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AnnuAl GenerAl MeetinG
The Annual General Meeting of Phoenix Technology Income Fund will be 

held on May 10th, 2007 at 9 am (MDT) at the Bankers Hall Auditorium, 

Lower Level, 315 – 8th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta.
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Profile
Phoenix Technology Income Fund is a specialized provider of drilling services to the oil and 
natural gas industry throughout North America. Headquartered in Calgary, Alberta, Phoenix 
designs, develops, manufactures, operates and maintains innovative, leading-edge downhole 
tools for directional and horizontal wells. The core business is a growing fleet of Measurement-
While-Drilling (MWD) tools using either mud pulse or electromagnetic telemetry.

Phoenix is a growth business. With operations centres in Alberta, Texas, Michigan and Wyoming, 
Phoenix covers virtually all of North America’s onshore drilling regions. A robust capital program 
in 2006 grew the Fund’s drilling tool fleet to 86 systems. As of year end Phoenix had participated 
in drilling more than 8,000 wells since its founding in 1985. Phoenix’s growth is financed mainly 
through retained cash flow, and long-term debt is negligible.

Phoenix’s trust units trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) under the symbol PHX.UN. At 
December 31, 2006 there were 22,274,773 units issued and outstanding. Cash distributions 
were $0.735 per unit in 2006.
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Phoenix’s operating divisions 
outperformed industry trends in 
Canada and the US:
• A  34% increase in Phoenix’s Canadian revenue sharply 

outperformed a 4% increase in the number of wells 
drilled in the industry.

• In the US Phoenix achieved 58% revenue growth, 
strongly outpacing a 28% increase in the average number 
of horizontal and directional drilling rigs in service.
Source: Daily Oil Bulletin and Baker Hughes

the tough keep growing.

Directional and horizontal drilling is what Phoenix is all about: deep wells, tough holes, 
challenging reservoirs. We help producers succeed in making productive wells out of today’s 
smaller, more technically complex oil and natural gas targets. By designing and continually 
refining its drilling technologies, Phoenix meets the demands of its growing base of 
customers in Canada and the US. In 2006 $13 million in new investment added 15 MWD 
guidance systems, bringing our fleet to 41 mud pulse tools and 45 electromagnetic, Current 
Loop Telemetry (“CLT”) tools. Phoenix achieved a record number of drilling days in 2006.

.
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In 2006 we expanded 
our presence in  
the United States  
and increased  
market penetration  
in Canada.

The vast US drilling market is a 
major growth driver for Phoenix, 
which operates through its 
subsidiary, Nevis Energy 
Services Inc. Nevis opened a new 
operations centre in Michigan, 
accessing the large northeast US 
market. Its Casper, Wyoming-
based business unit added staff 
to improve market penetration 
in the very active Rocky 
Mountain region. US revenue 
grew by 58 percent in 2006.

In Canada, directional and 
horizontal drilling increased 
in 2006. Phoenix’s track record 
of success under challenging 
conditions supported continued 
market share growth. Phoenix 
increased its presence in 
southeast Saskatchewan, 
where strong oil prices and new 
exploration concepts drove high 
rates of horizontal drilling. On 
the natural gas side, Phoenix’s 
focus on deeper wells dampened 
effects from the slowdown in 
shallow natural gas and coalbed 
methane drilling.
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Revenue 

Phoenix’s track record of success 
under challenging conditions 
supported continued market 

share growth. 
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We distributed  
$16 million in 2006 for 
a 56% payout ratio 
to our unitholders

Unitholders are harvesting the 
fruits of Phoenix’s disciplined, 
conservative financial approach. 
This includes negligible long-
term debt, a low payout ratio, 
internally financed capital 
expenditures and no new equity 
issued in 2006. With year-over-
year growth of �� percent in 
revenue and �6 percent in cash 
flow, Phoenix’s cash flow for 
distribution totalled $29 million 
in 2006. Phoenix distributed 
56 percent of this amount, 
retaining the balance to finance 
future growth. 
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The Fund’s long-term debt  
was only $1.8 million at year end.
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We worked hard to 
train and retain our 
workforce.

With a workforce of 2�� 
employees, and an average of 
��9 consultants, Phoenix is 
growing within a tight labour 
market. We strive to train our 
workforce and retain the top-
quality personnel we need for 
continued success. Management 
strives to provide an excellent 
environment for employees. 
Our advantages include the 
interesting work we do, the 
possibilities for advancement 
within a growing and profitable 
operation, competitive 
compensation and meaningful 
performance incentives.

Phoenix implemented a training 
program in the spring of 2006 to 
ensure that equipment operators 
meet internal standards and 
customers’ expectations. A 
full-time trainer oversees 
this program, using new 
comprehensive training manuals 
that impart Phoenix’s operating 
practices. 
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Full-Time Employees

0
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88

Employees

We strive to train our  
workforce and retain the  

top-quality personnel we need 
for continued success.

2006 Annual Report �



8 Phoenix Technology Income Fund

We continued to  
improve our 
technologies and  
to manufacture more 
CLT EM-MWD systems.

Among North America’s 
specialized directional and 
horizontal drilling tool 
operators, Phoenix is one of 
a small group that designs, 
manufactures and repairs 
a significant portion of its 
operating assets. These 
capabilities create competitive 
advantages, including agility, 
reliability and maximum 
uptime. Agility: Phoenix’s 
teams can recognize a market 
need, get approval for a new 
build, manufacture the unit 
and get it into the field faster 
than competitors. Reliability: 
Phoenix’s tools outperform 
competitors’, delivering some of 
the industry’s longest (i.e. best) 
Mean Time Between Failures. 
Uptime: Our in-house facilities 
reduce transportation and 
turnaround times on equipment 
repairs.
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Gross research costs increased by  
41 percent in 2006.
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President’s Message

Implementation, expansion and performance characterized 

2006 for Phoenix Technology Income Fund. It was a good 

year in every respect, even amid softer natural gas prices. 

Our $�� million capital program added �5 units to Phoenix’s 

MWD tool fleet. Combined with aggressive marketing to 

new customers and in new regions, the result was record 

drilling activity and record revenue and cash flow in both 

Canada and US.

 The year began with high commodity prices driving intense 

industry activity, which in Canada tailed off somewhat in the 

second half. Phoenix’s activity rate outpaced the industry 

in each quarter. All operating divisions expanded – Canada 

and all three US business units. The US division approached 

$�0 million in revenue and Phoenix’s focus on horizontal oil 

drilling in southeast Saskatchewan drove growth in Canada.

We worked to maximize benefits from the new technologies 

rolled out in the previous two years. The equipment 

construction program was complemented by continuous 

improvement to operating systems, which strengthened 

customer retention. Diversification of services augmented 

our growth. The third quarter saw an all-time financial record, 

when the first quarter is historically a service company’s 

strongest quarter.

Four key areas differentiate Phoenix from its competitors:

Commitment to Innovative Technology  
Phoenix’s commitment to providing customers with superior 

technology  takes us into areas where other similar-sized or 

smaller service providers can’t compete. Most competitors 

simply use off-the-shelf technology. Phoenix’s commitment 

is evidenced  by our internal research and development (R&D) 

program, which is staffed by a team of excellent, motivated 

personnel. The R&D program has yielded some of the most 

effective technologies of any directional and horizontal 

drilling service provider. We’ve repeatedly succeeded in 

bringing out new CLT systems, and they’re proving to be 

among the industry’s most reliable and advanced.

Technological advantages mean continued business success. 

For example, nearly all directional and horizontal shallow gas 

wells are now drilled with electromagnetic (EM) MWD tools. 

This has opened up a huge area of business for Phoenix, 

because many smaller competitors don’t have access to this 

latest technology. Phoenix’s CLT EM-MWD fleet totalled �5 

systems at December ��, 2006.

Phoenix’s R&D commitment was supported by $898,000 

of investment in 2006, which was up by �� percent from 

2005. We worked on ongoing initiatives to strengthen our 

competitive advantages, such as providing new opportunities 

to excel in unconventional drilling applications. Today we’re 

on the cusp of rolling out new technologies for Steam-

Assisted Gravity Drainage (SAGD) drilling in the oil sands, 

coalbed methane (CBM) drilling and underbalanced drilling.

Geographical Diversification  
Operating North America-wide offers business growth and 

creates competitive advantages. Canada’s seasonally slow 

second quarter coincides with strong US activity, improving 

equipment utilization and cash flows. In addition to a larger 

annual well-count (typically several times Canada’s), the 

Phoenix’s commitment to providing 
customers with superior technology takes 
us into areas where other similar-sized or 
smaller service providers can’t compete. 
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US market is characterized by a higher ratio of directional 

and horizontal drilling and less short-term, price-driven 

volatility in field activity.

Following our first modest foray in 2000, the acquisition 

of Nevis Energy Services Inc. in 2002 was our springboard 

for US market growth. Opening an operations centre in 

Traverse City, Michigan last spring gave Nevis a presence in 

all three main US growth regions: the Barnett Shale in the 

Gulf Coast region, the Northeast and the Rocky Mountains. 

The Michigan expansion included bringing in experienced 

managers who know the region intimately. A new motor 

service facility in Michigan became operational in January 

200�, which will help to improve operating margins.

Having achieved nearly 58 percent growth in 2006, the nearly 

$�0 million in revenue generated by US operations represented 

�0 percent of Phoenix’s top-line for the year. We expect that 

ratio to increase further as we add operating personnel, 

increase our marketing and improve operating efficiencies. In 

200� we’ll see the full-year benefits of the Michigan expansion 

including its new motor service facilities.

Financial Strength  
Phoenix is a growth business with very little debt. We’ve 

always been financially conservative. By focusing on building 

cash flow and having a low payout ratio, we’ve financed a 

lot of our growth internally. We exited 2006 with only $�.8 

million of long-term debt. We issued no new equity in 2006, 

passing the benefits of growth to unitholders.

In-house design and manufacturing enhances our financial 

performance, reducing equipment costs and achieving more 

capital-efficient expansion. Phoenix’s financial strength is 

especially helpful during slower times, driving continued 

growth when others may struggle to survive.

Every financial metric hit records in 2006. We had 

nearly matched 2005’s full-year results by the end of Q�. 

Revenues were $59.6 million in Canada and $�9.� million 

in the US. Operating days were up significantly year-over-

year and pricing strengthened. Higher operating margins 

complemented top-line growth of �� percent. The equipment 

utilization rate remained satisfactory amid the record 

addition of new equipment.

Challenges included growing labour costs and equipment 

rental costs in the US Northeast market. In response we 

purchased required assets and moved to improve profitability 

in controllable cost areas, opening motor service facilities in 

Calgary and Michigan.

Cash flow of $29 million represented year-over-year growth 

of �6 percent. In March 2006 we raised the monthly 

distribution rate from $0.05 per unit to $0.065 per unit, 

or $0.�8 per unit on an annualized basis. The �0 percent 

increase was our third in less than a year. Distributions 

totalled $�6 million, or $0.��5 per unit for the year, for a 

payout ratio of 56 percent.

President’s Message

In-house design and manufacturing 
enhances our financial performance, 
reducing equipment costs and achieving 
more capital-efficient expansion. 
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President’s Message

People 
The customer depends on Phoenix to steer the well to the 

right sub-surface location. The quality of the equipment we 

build and the way we operate this equipment are both crucial 

success factors. To achieve each of these Phoenix relies on 

its dedicated personnel and employed 2�� full time staff by 

early 200�.

The industry’s labour market has been tight, but thankfully 

Phoenix has advantages in this area. We’ve attracted good 

people, we’ve benefited from low turnover – and have 

numerous �0-year veterans on staff – we enjoy a strong 

reputation in the industry, and our people tell us they enjoy 

working at Phoenix. In the highly competitive US market 

for energy sector technical personnel, we have succeeded in 

recruiting top-quality people.

We strive to provide a good work environment. The work we 

do is interesting, and we offer competitive compensation all 

around. During weaker times, we retained staff and avoided 

layoffs as much as possible, which fostered loyalty. In addition 

we bolster motivation to maximize work performance 

through meaningful performance-based bonuses.

In our business, gaining new customers is paramount –  

it requires hard work, experience and building of relationships. 

We are big believers in marketing, and we’ve built a team of 

high-level individuals who can provide detailed attention 

to customers’ needs. Phoenix’s marketing teams in Canada 

and the US provide a level of service that meets or exceeds 

customers’ expectations.

With record growth came the challenge of ensuring that all 

personnel continue to meet our high standards and customers’ 

expectations. Last year we launched a major training initiative 

for equipment operators. We brought in a full-time training 

manager and we made a substantial investment in drafting 

detailed field operating manuals. This program is generating 

excellent results. It’s another area that distinguishes Phoenix 

from competitors of similar size.

Taxation of Income Trusts
The Government of Canada’s new policy, announced last 

autumn, to tax the cash distributions of Canadian income 

trusts reduced market valuations and prompted trusts to 

re-examine their long-term financial and business models. 

Phoenix enjoys being a trust, because we enjoy rewarding 

investors with a growing stream of cash distributions. 

This model helped finance our growth while maintaining a 

conservative balance sheet.

We continue to await the legislation formalizing the new 

tax policy. We are having legal and financial experts analyze 

our financial structure and provide advice. As a growth 

enterprise that previously operated as a corporation for 

many years, we are confident we could succeed under a 

corporate structure. Our US division is already fully taxable, 

which would somewhat reduce the impact of converting 

back to a corporation.

Some trusts have already announced they will return to a 

corporate model. At present, we think the best course is 

to maintain our distribution policy and await the outcome 

of the legislation. This will enable Phoenix to provide cash 

distributions to unitholders in a tax-efficient manner and 

prepare for future clarity. We are confident we can sustain 

the current distributions level.

In the highly competitive US market for 
energy sector technical personnel, we have 
succeeded in recruiting top-quality people.
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2007 Market Outlook and Plans
This year our key focuses are training, performance and 

profitability. Important initiatives will result in an active 

year. Drilling forecasts for the upcoming year are down from 

2006, although they are high by historical levels. Our reduced 

capital budget, with five new MWD systems planned this 

year, reflects this outlook. If future growth opportunities 

present themselves, the Fund would not hesitate to expand 

its capital expenditure program. Although the industry’s rate 

of drilling has already slowed, Phoenix’s business has not, 

and we are busy in all four of our market areas.

Phoenix’s financial strength, including the low payout 

ratio, leaves us well-prepared for slower times and strongly 

positioned to seize emerging opportunities. Our sub-sector 

has a less volatile price cycle than the drilling industry. While 

active times don’t trigger the same steep run-up in day rates, 

conversely, slow downs don’t bring the same punishing roll-

backs. Eliminating rental equipment and utilizing our new 

motor service facilities in Calgary and Traverse City, Michigan 

reflects Phoenix’s ongoing focus on cost efficiencies, aimed 

at maximizing operating margins. 

Our operations will offer customers greater system 

configurations and leading-edge technology, promoting 

satisfaction and retention, while levering our competitive 

strengths to build market share. Phoenix’s diversification 

promotes continued good utilization even amid lower 

industry activity. Preparatory work towards entering new 

and unconventional drilling markets will continue in 2007.

The US market outlook is positive. Phoenix’s main objective 

is to build market share. Given Nevis’ junior position in this 

immense market, even a 1 percentage-point gain represents 

huge growth. By increasing our marketing activities and 

sales force, we believe we can continue our exponential 

growth in our three key market areas. Here too we will focus 

on controllable costs. We’ll see a full year’s activity out of the 

new Michigan operations centre and motor service facility, 

and plan to open an additional motor service facility in 

Houston in the third quarter of 2007.

There will also be developments on the technology side. 

Our R&D program has a track record of success, and we’re 

confident that continued efforts will see Phoenix developing 

new commercial products that will enable us to compete 

in new service areas. Field trials on several significant new 

technologies have been promising. We’re optimistic about 

commercialization over the near term, and this could include 

numerous roll-outs this year.

People are always important to any service-provider. But 

for 2006 we owe a particular debt of gratitude to Phoenix’s 

superb teams in both operating divisions. In an environment 

that saw possibly unprecedented labour market challenges, 

Phoenix’s people outperformed, helping the Fund achieve its 

record results. My deepest thanks go out to all of you.

On behalf of the Board of Directors,

John Hooks

President and Chief Executive Officer

February 28, 2007

President’s Message

Phoenix’s financial strength, including the 
low payout ratio, leaves us well-prepared 
for slower times and strongly positioned to 
seize emerging opportunities. 

[Signed] “John Hooks”
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Understanding  
Our 
Business

Key Markets
An estimated 2�,25� oil and natural gas wells were completed 

throughout Canada in 2006, of which approximately �� 

percent were directional or horizontal wells. Phoenix’s growth 

has three main drivers: the overall growth of directional and 

horizontal drilling, Phoenix’s ability to capture larger shares 

of existing markets, and the development of new technologies 

providing new services and generating additional sources of 

cash flow. Being able to move equipment among its four 

geographical markets helps Phoenix to optimize utilization, 

creating a competitive advantage in operating efficiencies.

Canada
Western Canada was Phoenix’s core market from its founding 

in �985 until its entry into the US in 2000. This market has 

experienced heavy field activity every year since 2000, with 

2005 setting historical records. Phoenix has built its market 

presence by providing effective, highly reliable tools for 

numerous applications.

The success of a directional/horizontal drilling company 

is determined not only by the capabilities of the tools, but 

by the operator’s skill. Phoenix’s commitment to having 

knowledgeable people at all levels, including some of the 

industry’s best field and development personnel, has helped 

Phoenix accumulate a 2�-year track record of success.

Directional and horizontal drilling increased in Canada in 

2006 despite a slight year-over-year reduction in the overall 

number of wells drilled. Phoenix focused particularly on 

horizontal oil drilling in southeast Saskatchewan, insulating 

it from the slowdown in shallow natural gas drilling. The 

Canadian business unit set new operating records in 2006. 

In the softer market conditions expected in 200�, Phoenix 

will continue to focus on horizontal oil drilling, on offering 

its customers greater tool options, and on rolling out new 

technologies to pursue new markets.

Overview
Phoenix designs, manufactures, operates and maintains a 

growing fleet of Measurement-While-Drilling (MWD) tools 

using Mud Pulse or Electromagnetic (EM) telemetry. MWD 

tools are key to drilling successful directional and horizontal 

wells in the oil and natural gas industry. Phoenix’s field 

teams operate MWD tools at the drilling location during the 

directional or horizontal drilling phases.

The headquarters and the design and manufacturing centre 

of Phoenix are in Calgary, Alberta. The US business division 

(Nevis) operates three units, based in Houston, Texas; 

Traverse City, Michigan; and Casper, Wyoming. Phoenix 

is one of the few MWD tool operators in North America 

to design and manufacture its own equipment. A major 

competitive advantage, this capability is supported by an 

expert R&D team backed by consistent capital spending.

During 2006 Phoenix constructed �5 new MWD units 

under a record $�� million capital program. This brought the 

combined fleet to 86 units, of which �5 are state-of-the-art, 

CLT EM-MWD tools.
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United States
Following its initial modest entry in 2000, Phoenix’s growth accelerated in 

2002 with the purchase of Nevis Energy Services Inc. The US directional and 

horizontal drilling market is large, seasonally complementary to Canadian 

operations and somewhat less volatile than the Canadian market. This 

market is highly focused on natural gas and continues to expand to meet 

demand for sustained deliverability of natural gas supply.

Nevis’ growth is being driven by entering new market areas and by more 

aggressive marketing within existing operating areas. Nevis expands by 

providing high-quality service with expertly trained personnel and industry-

leading equipment. In spring 2006 Nevis opened a new operations centre 

in Traverse City, Michigan. A motor service facility opened in December 

to maximize operating profitability in that region. The Casper, Wyoming 

business unit was expanded to capture more of the Rocky Mountain region. 

There are also growth opportunities in the Gulf Coast market.

Each drilling region has unique characteristics, making local experience and 

relationships key to building market share. The Rocky Mountain region 

is a highly competitive and extremely active natural gas drilling area, and 

includes numerous producers with multi-rig exploration programs. Phoenix’s 

small market presence represents major growth opportunity. Phoenix is 

intensifying its marketing program in this region.

In 2006 Nevis accounted for approximately �0 percent of Phoenix’s overall 

revenue. Its revenue grew by 58 percent to nearly $�0 million. Pricing was 

competitive but firm, supporting strong margins. Currently �0 systems or 

�5 percent of Phoenix’s tool fleet are deployed in the US. With somewhat 

softer market conditions forecasted for 200�, Nevis will continue to focus on 

operating efficiencies, opening a new motor maintenance shop in Houston, 

while continuing to expand its customer base and widen its geographic 

market presence, with emphasis on the Rocky Mountain region.
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Directional and  
Horizontal Drilling
Directional and horizontal drilling accounts for approximately �0 percent of 

the oil and natural gas wells drilled in North America. These wells, in general, 

are technically more complex, requiring expert operators and top-quality 

equipment. Despite a year-over-year reduction in the overall Canadian well-

count in 2006, directional and horizontal drilling continued to grow in both 

Canada and the US last year.

Directional drilling is drilling a well that is intentionally deviated from 

the vertical. This enables the driller to intersect a target reservoir that is 

horizontally offset from the drilling site. This is usually done to bypass a 

physical barrier at surface, such as urban development or bodies of water.

Horizontal drilling entails drilling a vertical section of a well, followed by a 

bend, that results in a section that is inclined at 80-90 degrees from vertical, 

i.e., essentially horizontal. By drilling through rather than merely into the 

target reservoir formation, horizontal wells expose a much greater length of 

the well bore to oil- or natural gas-bearing reservoir rock.

This technique can dramatically increase a well’s productivity and reserves, 

and enable a single well to produce as much as several separate vertical 

wells. Horizontal wells are also used to produce tighter or less permeable 

reservoirs, which might flow at uneconomic rates if drilled vertically. Some 

horizontal wells can even be continually steered to track the undulations of 

the target reservoir.

Directional and horizontal drilling requires specialized tools to measure, 

control and alter the orientation of the drillbit, so the well can be steered 

accurately to the target. The key tools for these tasks are the bent steerable 

mud motor and a measurement-while-drilling (MWD) system.

The MWD system provides precise measurements of inclination, azimuth 

(direction or bearing) and toolface orientation, telling the operator where 

the drillbit is located and where it’s going. The MWD system also provides 

reservoir information using the measurement of natural gamma ray 

radiation. Based on the data provided by the MWD tool, the operators direct 

the well towards the target by reorienting the bent steerable mud motor. This 

is a hydraulic motor driven by pumping drilling fluid (or mud) down the drill 

string and through a screw-shaped rotor-stator that turns the bit.

Our Key Tools
Accurate directional drilling requires a 

stream of precise, reliable and timely 

information from the bottom hole sensors 

in the MWD tool. In order to provide this 

accuracy, Phoenix has drilling units that 

combine bent housing steerable mud motors 

with either a positive pulse, negative pulse, 

or electromagnetic (EM) MWD system. 

AutoSurvey and proprietary downhole 

batteries with various accessories round out 

the fleet.

Mud Pulse 
Mud Pulse telemetry was developed in the 

early �980’s as one of the first methods 

for wirelessly transmitting data from a 

downhole location to the surface. It is a very 

reliable technique that uses either a choke 

(positive pulse) or a vent to the annulus 

(negative pulse) to create fluctuations in 

the pressure of the fluid being pumped to 

drill the well. These fluctuations, or pressure 

pulses, are encoded in patterns that are 

decoded on surface and then displayed as 

real-time downhole data which allows an 

operator to determine the location of the 

well. Mud pulse telemetry is quite robust in 

that there is very little attenuation of signal 

as the depth from surface changes and that 

the signal is not susceptible to interference 

from elements outside of the drilling mud 

system. The principal drawbacks to using 

mud pulse tools are that they will struggle 

to transmit pulses if the percentage of gas 

in the drilling medium is too high and that 

the downhole survey must be transmitted 

while the mud pumps are running. The 

former is a case that arises during the 

drilling of underbalanced gas wells and the 

latter is a factor when drilling wells with a 

very high rate of penetration. In this case the 

time required to wait for a survey becomes 

a significant percentage of the total time 

required to drill the well, increasing the 

overall cost for the client.
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EM Telemetry 
EM telemetry was first developed in the �990’s and energy producers’ 

demand is constantly increasing. The higher data rate, ability to transmit 

during connections, and increased reliability due to lack of moving parts 

make it an appealing choice for even non-underbalanced drilling applications. 

An EM-MWD tool typically uses the same types of measuring electronics 

as mud pulse tools, but rather than encoding data as pressure pulses, an 

electric signal is sent from the tool. This signal propogates through the 

rock formations to the surface where it is detected by a series of electrodes 

(antennas) placed in the ground and on the rig structure. Once detected the 

signal is demodulated and displayed for the operator to use. The primary 

drawback to EM telemetry is that there are some types of rock formation 

that do not allow the electric signal to pass through to surface.

Phoenix‘s proprietary EM-MWD system is called the Current Loop Telemetry 

(CLT). The CLT tool has been commercial since 200� and was designed 

to eliminate many of the problems facing other EM tools. The electrical 

properties of some types of rock can cause EM tools to waste a significant 

amount of power in order to produce a large enough signal to be detected 

Bent housing steerable 
mud motor creates angle 
in the well path to reach 
the target.

A MWD tool sends 
data to surface which is 
analyzed to determine the 
well’s location.

at surface. The CLT tool is extremely efficient 

in these types of formation, and the design of 

the signal-generating portion of the tool allows 

for a much lower rate of battery consumption 

and a longer transmission range. The CLT tool 

has also been designed to be very robust. The 

drilling environment on an underbalanced well 

is very harsh. Extremely high drilling medium 

velocities mean that vibration rates are several 

times higher than on wells that are drilled with 

water or mud. The CLT tool accommodates 

for this with rugged electronics and patented 

mounting techniques. The combination of 

all these features allows the CLT system to 

survey in wells that would have previously been 

impossible to drill using an MWD system.
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Integrated in-house capabilities enable Phoenix to respond 

rapidly to changing field conditions or evolving customer 

requirements. If a particular tool is tripping more often than 

it should, for example, Phoenix is able to quickly diagnose 

the problem, make repairs and modify the fleet as required. 

In-house servicing enhances quality control and improves 

cost-efficiencies.

Technologies Under 
Development
Inclination-at-Bit 
This Phoenix design puts sensors right behind the drillbit, 

providing even more timely data to the operators and 

allowing tighter control of the well bore than was previously 

possible. A conventional MWD tool is located �0-20 meters 

behind the drillbit, which means that borehole information 

is not available to an operator until the well has been drilled 

that far past the point of interest. The Inclination-at-Bit tool 

provides ruggedized inclination and gamma sensors in a 

short sub located directly above the drillbit. Inclination and 

gamma data is measured and sent up to the MWD tool �0-

20 meters behind the drillbit using radio transmission. The 

MWD tool then processes this data and sends it to surface.

This is an essential technology for drilling Steam-Assisted 

Gravity Drainage (SAGD) wells, currently the leading 

method of in situ oil sands recovery. The tight pairing 

of horizontal wells in SAGD drilling imposes very fine 

tolerances. Phoenix’s Inclination-at-Bit system can place 

such wells accurately. Field testing began in 2005 and 

continued through 2006. A second generation of prototype 

tools was manufactured in 2006 with a planned commercial 

roll-out in Q� 200�.

AutoSurvey 
Producers’ requirements for faster, more economical vertical 

drilling created the need for a cost effective bottom hole 

survey method. Phoenix’s AutoSurvey tool was developed 

for applications where periodic surveying provides sufficient 

data for drilling success. The tool combines a simplified 

electronic sensor package with a revolutionary mud pulser, 

enabling operators to drill wells with less downtime and 

reduced labour intensity. Result: reduced costs. Phoenix had 

a total of �0 AutoSurvey systems at year end 2006.

Engage Downhole Battery 
Production  
Lithium batteries are the most economical and reliable 

power supply for the vast majority of MWD applications. 

Phoenix’s Engage battery division manufactures a wide 

variety of lithium battery staves for downhole use. The high 

level of build quality and Phoenix’s proprietary smartchip 

battery monitoring technology make Engage batteries a 

smart choice for MWD applications.

The Phoenix 
Technology Advantage
Phoenix’s leadership in directional and horizontal drilling 

stems from its long-term commitment to designing, 

developing, manufacturing and repairing its own drilling 

tools. The in-house R&D team, backed by a sustained 

capital commitment, makes Phoenix an industry leader in 

developing effective and reliable drilling tools. In addition 

to developing all-new technologies, the R&D department 

is continually stretching the capabilities of existing tools, 

enhancing reliability, enabling deeper drilling, or extending 

battery life.

Interrupting drilling or “tripping out the hole” is very costly 

to drilling customers. Phoenix’s high reliability creates a 

major competitive advantage. For example, Phoenix mud 

motors all have sealed bearings; Phoenix’s Robust CLT 

EM-MWD tool, with its elastomer-lined collar, stabilizes 

the tool and reduces vibrations for underbalanced drilling 

applications; the signal generating modules in both the CLT 

and the Positive Pulse MWD systems are the most efficient 

in the industry.
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Coiled Tubing 
Bottom Hole 
Assembly (BHA) 
Orienter 
The growing popularity of drilling shallower 

wells using coiled tubing has created a need 

for dependable directional drilling. Coiled 

tubing strings are unable to rotate accurately 

in order to orient the bent steerable mud 

motor that steers a directional well. Phoenix 

is fulfilling this need with development of 

its Coiled Tubing Orienter. This mechanical 

device indexes the Bottom Hole Assembly 

(BHA) to the desired steering position. A 

MWD tool supplies downhole information 

until the well needs to be steered. At that 

point the Orienter indexes and locks in the 

new direction and drilling continues. Field-

testing of this new system is planned for Q2 

200� with an anticipated commercial roll-

out to follow in late 200�.

Extended Reach 
The Phoenix Extended Reach CLT system is 

being developed for applications in which 

the rock formation reduces transmission of 

the CLT signal. While conventional EM tools 

transmit signal from a location �0-20 meters 

behind the drillbit, a CLT tool equipped with 

the Extended Reach system transmits from 

significantly further up the hole. The depth 

of the problematic formations is determined 

then an equivalent length of conductive wire 

is inserted into the drillstring to transmit 

the signal from above these formations. This 

allows an operator to realise all of the benefits 

of using an EM-MWD tool even when the 

well passes through rock that will not allow 

signal to transmit to the surface. Following 

design and initial development, in 2006 

Phoenix purchased a wire-line skid unit that 

will be used to extend the available length of 

the signal carrier wire. The Extended Reach 

system is scheduled for commercial roll-out 

in Q2 200�.

AutoSurvey  
Satellite System 
To provide yet another level of service, 

Phoenix has developed the AutoSurvey 

Satellite System. With the aid of dedicated 

satellite transceivers deployed in the field, 

the details of any job are available to staff 

located off the well-site at anytime. This 

means that capabilities ranging from 

simply monitoring the status of the job to 

streaming raw signal for off-site decoding are 

now available. Benefits include dramatically 

increased ability to solve on-site problems 

and a corresponding reduction in downtime, 

as well as the potential for fewer technicians 

on-site.
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The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition, results of operations, and cash 

flow of the Phoenix Technology Income Fund (“Phoenix” or the “Fund”) should be read in conjunction with the Fund’s 

annual audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December ��, 2006 and 2005, and the accompanying 

notes contained therein, as well as other sections contained within the Fund’s 2006 annual report. Readers can also obtain 

additional information on the Fund including its Information Circular and Annual Information Form (“AIF”) filed on SEDAR 

at www.sedar.com. This MD&A has been prepared taking into consideration information available up to and including 

February 28, 200�.

Forward-Looking Statements
Certain information set forth in this MD&A, including a discussion of future plans and operations, contains forward-looking 

statements that involve substantial known and unknown risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements include 

statements relating to Phoenix’s plans, strategies, objectives, expectations, intentions, resources and business activities, 

which are not guarantees as to future results since there are inherent difficulties in predicting these future results. The use 

of any of the words: “anticipate”, “expect”, “project”, “may”, “will”, “should”, “believe”, “estimate”, “forecast”, “intends” and 

similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Such statements are subject to known and unknown risks and 

uncertainties, many of which are beyond the Fund’s control. These would include the impact of the general state of the 

economy, oil and natural gas energy price fluctuations, industry conditions, competition from other organizations, weather 

conditions and the seasonal nature of business, access to third-party suppliers and contractors, changes in government 

regulation, access to competent employees including senior management, and currency and interest rate fluctuations. In 

particular, if there is a material downturn in activity levels in the oil and natural gas industry, there may also be a sudden 

impact to the Fund’s level of cash flow and distributions. The Fund’s assumptions used in these forward-looking statements 

are believed to be reasonable at the time of preparation; however, no assurance can be given that these assumptions will 

prove to be correct and consequently, the Fund’s actual results could differ materially from those implied by or contained in 

any forward-looking statement. As a result, readers should be cautioned about placing any undue reliance on any forward-

looking statement included in this report.

Non-GAAP Measures
The Fund uses certain performance measures throughout this MD&A that are not recognizable under Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). These performance measures include earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization (“EBITDA”), EBITDA per unit, cash flow or distributable cash from operations, cash flow per unit, and 

cash distributions per unit. Management believes that these measures provide supplemental financial information that is 

useful in the evaluation of the Fund’s operations. Investors should be cautioned, however, that these measures should not 

be construed as alternatives to measures determined in accordance with GAAP as an indicator of Phoenix’s performance. 

Phoenix’s method of calculating these measures may differ from that of other organizations and, accordingly, these may not 

be comparable. Please refer to the Non-GAAP measures section.

Management’s Discussion  
and Analysis
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Description Of Business
The Phoenix Technology Income Fund is an un-incorporated open-ended investment trust governed by the laws of the 

province of Alberta pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated May �9, 200�. The Fund, through its subsidiary entities, provides 

horizontal and directional technology and drilling services to oil and natural gas producing companies in western Canada 

and the United States (“US”). In addition the Fund rents various downhole drilling equipment to oil and natural gas producer 

companies within western Canada through a division, JAG Rentals. Phoenix manufactures its Current Loop Telemetry 

(“CLT”) electromagnetic (“EM”) technology that is made available for internal operational use, or for lease to other horizontal 

and directional service providers within the industry. 

The Fund’s Canadian operations are conducted primarily through Phoenix Technology Services LP. The Fund maintains 

its corporate head office, research & development, Canadian sales, service and operational centers in Calgary, Alberta. The 

Fund’s US operations, conducted through the Fund’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Nevis Energy Services Inc. (“Nevis”), are 

headquartered in Houston Texas. Nevis has sales and service facilities in Houston, Texas; Traverse City, Michigan; and 

Casper, Wyoming. 

In 2006, Phoenix expanded its measurement while drilling (“MWD”) guidance system fleet in response to the increase in 

demand for its services. �5 MWD guidance systems were added to the Fund’s MWD fleet, comprised of �2 CLT systems and 

� mud pulse systems. This represented an increase in capacity of 2� percent from 2005. As at December ��, 2006, the Fund 

had the capability of running 86 concurrent jobs. Currently, 56 MWD systems are based in Canada with �0 in the US. It is 

expected that the Fund will add a minimum of 5 MWD systems in 200�. This expansion may change in response to the level 

of customer demand that eventuates during the year. 

Overall Performance
In the 2006 year, the Fund continued to invest in capital expansion and was successful in gaining market share in both 

Canada and the US and as a result, demand for its services and its financial results were at record levels. Phoenix in 2006 

was strongly diversified geographically, with �0 percent of its revenue generated from the US. In addition, the Fund had a 

good level of diversification between oil and natural gas well drilling services. Phoenix’s drilling activity within the US was 

predominantly centered on natural gas wells. In contrast, in Canada the drilling of oil wells represented approximately �� 

percent of the Fund’s overall Canadian activity. Although natural gas drilling activity within the Canadian industry weakened 

in the fourth quarter due to lower natural gas commodity prices, natural gas drilling activity within the US and oil well 

drilling activity within Canada did not show the same weakness. 

Phoenix’s operations in Canada and the US each showed significant growth in 2006 in comparison to the industry. Despite 

the small � percent increase in the number of horizontal and directional wells drilled in western Canada in 2006, Phoenix’s 

Canadian revenue increased by �� percent. The Fund’s US revenue in 2006 increased by 58 percent, where in comparison, the 

average number of active horizontal and directional drilling rigs increased by 28 percent in 2006. 

The Fund’s financial strength improved during 2006. Cash flow generated in 2006 of $28.9 million was sufficient to allow 

the Fund to declare distributions of $�6.� million, and spend $�2.� million in capital equipment without it adding any long-

term debt or issuing new equity. Working capital improved to $�9.6 million at the end of 2006 as compared to $�8.2 million 

in 2005 and unitholders’ equity increased from $5�.6 million at year end 2005 to $58.9 million at the end of 2006. A new 

$20 million extendible debt facility was put in place with Phoenix’s chartered bank near the end of 2006 to allow the Fund 

flexibility for further capital expansion or business acquisitions. 
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Due to its strong cash flows, the Fund in early 2006 approved a �0 percent increase in its cash distributions to unitholders, 

to $0.065 per unit from $0.05 per unit. This equated to an annualized payout of $0.�8 per unit from $0.60 per unit. The 

increase was effective for the Fund’s March distribution, payable on April ��, 2006. The Fund’s cash payout ratio following 

the increase was 56 percent for the year ended December ��, 2006.

Business Acquisitions
The Fund did not complete any business acquisitions in 2006. However, operations were expanded internally within Canada 

and the US in the year. The most significant development was the addition of a new operation in Traverse City, Michigan, 

which services new geographical areas in the northeast US.

In 2005 Phoenix completed the purchase of the assets and business of the directional drilling division of Wellco Energy 

Services Partnership for cash consideration of $�.� million. From this acquisition, Phoenix added six positive pulse guidance 

systems, �� downhole mud motors, �0 autosurvey systems and numerous ancillary equipment to its fleet.

Key Drivers of the Fund’s Business
Phoenix considers the key drivers of its business to be:

• Current and forecasted oil and natural gas price levels, which are largely determined by supply and demand forces, impact 

our customers’ operating cash flows which in turn affect their capital expenditure programs;

• The access of our customers to debt or equity financing to fund their capital expenditure programs;

• The expectations of the Fund’s customers concerning oil and natural gas prices and drilling prospects in Canada and  

the US;

• The Fund’s ability to attract, train and retain key personnel;

• The ability to consistently deliver superior customer service and satisfaction;

• Developing and deploying new drilling technologies which allow the Fund to further expand and meet increasing operating 

efficiency demands from oil and natural gas producer companies; and,

• Policies of various governments including taxation, which can affect the Fund’s profitability and overall industry  

activity levels. 

Key Performance Measures
There are several performance measures that are used by the Fund to assess its performance relative to its strategies and 

goals, the most significant of which are:

• Return on capital employed;

• Cash distributions as a percentage of cash flow. The Fund currently targets to pay out approximately 65 percent of its cash 

flow. For the year ended December ��, 2006 the payout ratio was 56 percent; and,

• Health and safety performance targets. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Industry Activity and Statistics
2006 Oil and Natural Gas Commodity Prices
The pricing trends of oil and natural gas followed different paths in 2006. Despite a decline in oil prices during the fourth 

quarter of 2006, the average price as measured by West Texas Intermediate (“WTI”) crude oil on the NYMEX increased to US 

$66.25 / Bbl in 2006 from US $56.�0 / Bbl in 2005. Conversely, natural gas prices strengthened slightly during the fourth 

quarter of 2006, but the average 2006 NYMEX Henry Hub natural gas price declined by 29 percent to US $6.9�6 / Mcf from 

US $9.0�5 / Mcf in 2005. (Source: Peters & Co Limited) 

Canadian Industry
The drilling of horizontal and directional oil wells within the Canadian industry was strong throughout 2006. Natural gas well 

drilling activity, however, experienced some weakness due to the lower natural gas prices experienced in the year, especially 

in the fourth quarter. Overall western Canadian industry in 2006, as measured by the number of horizontal and directional 

wells drilled, increased by only � percent to �,�08 wells drilled from 6,8�� in 2005. (Source: Daily Oil Bulletin) 

Source: Daily Oil Bulletin

As indicated in the chart above, horizontal and directional wells made up approximately �� percent of all wells drilled in 

Canada in 2006, up slightly from 2005. The increased activity in oil well drilling in southern Saskatchewan, where Phoenix 

has been an active participant, contributed to this development in 2006. 

US Industry
Unlike in the Canadian marketplace, natural gas well drilling activity in the US was strong throughout 2006. Field labour 

shortages that eased in Canada late in 2006 still remain a challenge in the US. The average horizontal and directional rig 

count in the US increased in each successive quarter, as depicted in the chart on page 2�. In 2006 the average horizontal and 

directional rig count increased by 28 percent to 669 rigs from 52� in 2005. 
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Source: Baker Hughes

Selected Annual Financial Information
The following selected annual financial information was obtained from the audited consolidated financial statements 

prepared in accordance with GAAP:

(Stated in thousands of dollars except per unit amounts)

Years ended December 31, 2006 2005 2004

Revenue 99,346 69,�8� ��,8�6

Net earnings 20,638 ��,06� 6,��2

Earnings per unit – basic 0.93 0.6� 0.�5

Earnings per unit – diluted 0.92 0.66 0.��

Cash flow  28,909 2�,2�6 �0,�92

Long-term debt (�)  1,775 �,��5 �,2�5

Total assets 78,468 68,6�2 52,55�

(�) Excludes current portion of long-term debt.

Due to continued increases in job capacity and activity in Canada and the US, the Fund’s revenue increased by �� percent 

in 2006 over 2005, and by 58 percent in 2005 over 200�. Phoenix has been successful in gaining market share in both of 

its geographical segments since 200�. Job capacity increased in all three years from the significant capital expenditure 

programs that were undertaken, and from a business acquisition in each of 2005 and 200�. 

Phoenix’s net earnings for the year ended December ��, 2006 increased by �� percent from 2005 and by �22 percent in 2005 

from 200�. Cash flow increased by �6 percent in 2006 from 2005 and by �02 percent in 2005 from 200�. These increases 

over the two periods are a direct result of increased activity and resulting higher gross profit margins and profitability 

achieved. It should be noted that Phoenix converted into an income fund on July �, 200�, as such, its earnings were taxed 

as a corporation prior to that time.

Phoenix’s total assets have increased steadily since December ��, 200� to $�8.5 million at December ��, 2006. The Fund has 

been able to use its cash flow from operations to finance its capital expenditures and distributions in the current year. 

Q4 2006Q3 2006Q2 2006Q1 2006

Average US Rig Count by Quarter
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Results Of Operations 
Financial Highlights 
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per unit, percentage amounts and units outstanding)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Operating Results   

Revenue 99,346 69,�8� �� 

Net earnings 20,638 ��,06� �� 

Earnings per unit – diluted 0.92 0.66 �9 

EBITDA  29,950 2�,�0� �� 

EBITDA per unit – diluted  1.34 �.00 �� 

Cash Flow   

Cash flow  28,909 2�,2�6 �6 

Cash flow per unit – diluted  1.29 �.00 29 

Capital expenditures (�) 12,750 9,�90 �6 

Cash distributions paid 16,326 �0,�89 5� 

Cash distributions per unit (2) 0.735 0.5�5 �� 

Cash payout ratio (�) 56% 5�%  

Financial Position, December 31,    

Working capital 19,611 �8,2�� 8 

Long-term debt 1,775 �,��5 – 

Unitholders’ equity 58,908 5�,588 �0 

Fund units outstanding 22,274,773 22,�20,56� �

(�) Excludes business acquisitions.

(2) Cash distributions on a per unit basis declared and paid to unitholders in the year.

(�) Phoenix defines its cash payout ratio as cash distributions paid in the applicable period divided by cash flow for the same period.

Revenue
Phoenix expanded its job capacity in 2006 by adding �5 MWD systems in order to meet the exceptionally strong demand 

for services that were placed upon it from new and existing customers. Market share penetration continued in 2006 with 

the Canadian segment adding more than �5 new clients and with the US segment adding a new operation in Traverse 

City, Michigan and continuing its expansion within the Barnett Shale region in Texas. Despite solid gains in market share 

in Canada and the US, Phoenix has a diversified client base with its largest customer representing just over 8 percent of 

consolidated revenue in 2006. 

Record revenue of $99.� million was achieved for the year ended December ��, 2006 as compared to $69.5 million for 2005, 

an increase of �� percent. Consolidated MWD guidance equipment utilization for the year was �5 percent as compared to 

�� percent in 2005. Lower utilization was caused by fleet expansion, where in 2006 the average number of systems deployed 

was �� compared to an average of 5� in 2005. Due to the time requirements to service and mobilize equipment, Phoenix 

considers the maximum achievable utilization rate for its operations to be 6� percent. Utilization within Canada and the US 

was not as high as expected in 2006 due to field labour shortages that existed in Canada during the first three quarters of 

the year and in the US during the entire year. These shortages directly impacted the Fund’s ability to service additional work. 

Since year-end, labour shortages in Canada have eased significantly; however, within the US it is still an ongoing challenge. 
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Geographical Locations 
The Fund reports one operating segment on a geographical basis throughout the western Canadian provinces of Alberta, 

Saskatchewan and British Columbia and throughout the Gulf Coast, Northeast and Rocky Mountain regions of the US. 

(Stated in thousands of dollars )

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Canada 59,602 ��,��� ��

United States 39,744 25,��0 58 

  99,346 69,�8� ��

The US operations have grown significantly over the past three years. In the 200� year, the first full year of operations after 

the acquisition of US based Nevis Energy Services Inc., the US achieved revenue of $8.6 million. Since that time, revenue has 

grown organically by close to five times or �62 percent. For the year ended December ��, 2006, the US segment accounted 

for approximately �0 percent of consolidated revenue as compared to only 2� percent in 200�. Phoenix has benefited from 

this geographical diversification immensely in 2006 and the US market is still seen as providing Phoenix with a tremendous 

growth opportunity in 200�.

Canadian Revenue
Phoenix’s Canadian revenue increased by �� percent to a record $59.6 million for the year ended December ��, 2006, 

from $��.� million in 2005. Oil well diversification greatly contributed to Phoenix’s success in 2006. Approximately �� 

percent of the segment’s activity involved the provision of oil well drilling services, predominantly in the southern regions 

of Saskatchewan. This drilling activity was robust for the Fund in 2006 and it offset some of the decreased natural gas well 

drilling activity that occurred in the second half of the year. Due to the high level of demand experienced by Phoenix in 2006, 

the Fund was able to maintain its price levels to its customers throughout the year. 

Phoenix Geographical Revenue
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Phoenix’s growth in Canadian market share in 2006 is evident when comparing its growth in activity compared to overall 

horizontal and directional industry drilling activity from 2005. In each quarter of 2006 and on an annual basis, Phoenix has 

demonstrated superior performance, as depicted in the graph below: 

Source for Canadian wells drilled: Daily Oil Bulletin

United States Revenue
Nevis operates predominantly in the natural gas drilling market which was very strong in 2006 and as a result, customer 

pricing remained firm throughout the year. For the year ended December ��, 2006, Nevis reported record revenue of $�9.� 

million, compared to $25.� million in 2005, a 58 percent increase. The US doubled its operations within the Barnett Shale 

play located in the Fort Worth, Dallas, and Denton areas of Texas in 2006, and has become the operator of choice for several 

customers. The opening of a sales and service facility in Traverse City, Michigan in April 2006 greatly contributed to Nevis’s 

overall activity in the year. The Fund was able to deploy its CLT EM system in the region and the US added new customers 

from the northeast states of Michigan, Ohio, West Virginia, Pennsylvania and New York. Nevis expanded the provision of 

coal bed methane (“CBM”) drilling services in the Northeast region in 2006. CBM work accounted for approximately �5 

percent of this region’s activity.

Due to increases in activity and the goal to achieve greater profitability, Nevis has continued to reduce the number of MWD 

rentals provided to other horizontal and directional service providers by concentrating on full-service work. MWD rentals 

represented approximately 25 percent of activity in 2006 as compared to �0 percent in 2005. It is expected that this trend 

will continue in 200�. 

Percentage Increase in Phoenix Revenue 
versus Increase in Wells Drilled in Canadian Industry
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Operating Costs And Expenses
(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentage amounts)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Direct costs 59,873 ��,��6 �5

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue 40% ��%  

Direct costs are comprised of field and shop expenses and include current period research & development (“R&D”) 

expenditures. Direct costs for the year ended December ��, 2006 increased at a slightly greater rate than revenue and, as 

a result, gross profit as a percentage of revenue declined by � percent from 2005. The cost increases were due to several 

factors:

• With the expansion into the US Northeast, the Fund incurred costs associated with a new regional centre including office, 

shop and field personnel;

• Additional personnel were added to set up new mud motor repair facilities in Traverse City and Calgary;

• Although a large amount of equipment was deployed into the Northeast region to avoid costly third-party rentals, 

significant rentals were still incurred due to long equipment delivery lead times. The Fund’s strategy is to minimize third-

party downhole equipment rentals wherever possible;

• Increases in field labour costs were realized due in part to industry labour shortages that existed in Canada and the US 

during the year;

• The Casper shop was expanded in 2006 to handle additional work; and,

• R&D projects and activities increased in 2006. Gross research costs increased by �� percent to $898,000 from $6�6,000 

in 2005. R&D tax credits from the Canada Revenue Agency helped to offset these costs by $�90,000 in 2006 and $��,000 

in 2005. 

The Fund in 200� is expected to improve its profitability through its initiative to service and repair a portion of its mud 

motor fleet. A motor repair facility was established in Calgary in late 2006 to service a large percentage of the Canadian motor 

fleet and another facility was set up in Traverse City, Michigan to service that region’s motor fleet commencing in January 

200�. 

(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentage amounts)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) costs 10,008 �,�85 ��

SG&A as a percentage of revenue 10% ��%  

SG&A costs for the year ended December ��, 2006 increased by approximately $2.5 million to $�0.0 million from $�.5 

million in 2005. Stock-based compensation costs increased by $552,000 in 2006 from unit options issued in 2005 and 2006. 

The balance of the increase is due to higher insurance costs associated with the Fund’s asset expansion and marketing costs 

associated with the increased level of revenue-generating activity.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Depreciation and amortization 6,190 5,089 22

As a result of current and past years’ capital expenditures, depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 

��, 2006 increased to $6.� million from $5.� million in 2005. Amortization costs related to intangible assets that were 

recognized on a 2005 acquisition were $��,500 in 2006 compared to $262,500 in 2005. 

(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Foreign exchange loss 114 �50 (2�)

Foreign exchange losses are shown net of any gains and result primarily from the translation of US and Canadian-denominated 

trade receivables and payable balances, and movements in US and Canadian dollar exchange rates.

(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Interest on long-term debt 141 ��9 (2�)

Although interest rates have increased slightly in 2006, interest on long-term debt decreased by $�8,000 due to lower debt 

levels. No new debt was issued in 2006 and the Fund made monthly debt repayments of $�25,000 during the year.

(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Other interest  (71) (�09) (�5)

Interest income is generated from short-term money market investments from excess cash balances held. Interest income 

decreased in 2006 due to lower cash balances maintained in 2006.

(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Gain on disposition of drilling equipment (598) (�89) (2�)

The disposals relate primarily to equipment lost in well bores and are uncontrollable in nature. The gain reported is net of any 

asset retirements that are made before the end of their useful lives and self-insured downhole equipment losses.
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(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentage amounts)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Income taxes 3,051 2,080 ��

Effective tax rate 13% ��%  

The effective income tax rate for the year ended December ��, 2006 was �� percent compared to an expected federal and 

provincial rate of �2.5 percent. The difference in the two rates of $�.65 million was primarily the result of the following:

• A reduction of $�.6� million due to the deductibility of declared cash distributions that are allowable in calculating taxable 

income of the Fund;

• A reduction of $��9,000 due to the benefit received from enacted federal and provincial income tax rate reductions; and,

• An increase of $�50,000 due to the non-deductibility of stock-based compensation expenses.

As an investment trust, the Fund is subject to income taxes under the Income Tax Act only on income not distributed to its 

unitholders. The Fund, unlike its subsidiaries, will not recognize any future tax assets or liabilities on differences between the 

accounting and tax basis of its assets and liabilities. 

Refer also to federal income tax considerations under “Business Risk Factors”.

(Stated in thousands of dollars except per unit and percentage amounts)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Net earnings 20,638 ��,06� ��

Earnings per unit – diluted 0.92 0.66 �9

EBITDA 29,950 2�,�0� ��

EBITDA per unit – diluted 1.34 �.00 ��

EBITDA as a percentage of revenue 30% ��%  

Net earnings of $20.6 million, $0.92 per unit diluted, and EBITDA of $�0.0 million, $�.�� per unit diluted, were both at 

record levels for the Fund in 2006. The Fund achieved a slightly lower percentage of EBITDA to revenue due primarily to 

slightly lower gross profit margins. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Summary Of Quarterly Results
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per unit amounts)

 Dec-06 Sept-06 Jun-06 Mar-06 Dec-05 Sept-05 Jun-05 Mar-05

Revenue 28,882 30,087 18,490 21,887 2�,6�6 20,06� ��,68� �6,092 

Net earnings  6,273 6,978 2,356 5,031 �,8�0 �,68� �,05� �,5�2 

Earnings per unit – basic 0.28 0.31 0.11 0.23 0.22 0.2� 0.05 0.�� 

Earnings per unit – diluted 0.28 0.31 0.11 0.22 0.2� 0.22 0.05 0.�� 

Cash flow  8,402 9,217 3,823 7,466 �,65� 6,596 2,��2 �,8�2 

Cash flow per unit – diluted  0.37 0.41 0.17 0.33 0.�� 0.�2 0.�0 0.2� 

Activity levels in western Canada vary considerably due to seasonal weather patterns. Traditionally, the first quarter of the 

calendar year is historically the most active for service companies due to cold weather. The ability to move heavy equipment 

in the Canadian oil and natural gas fields is dependent on weather conditions. As warm weather returns in the spring, 

the winter’s frost comes out of the ground rendering many secondary roads incapable of supporting the weight of heavy 

equipment until they have thoroughly dried out. The duration of this “spring break-up” has a direct impact on the Fund’s 

activity levels. In addition, many exploration areas in northern Canada are accessible only in winter months when the 

ground is sufficiently frozen to support equipment. The timing of freeze-up and spring break-up affects the ability to move 

equipment in and out of these areas. As a result, late March through May is traditionally the Fund’s slowest time, as such, 

the operating results of the Fund vary on a quarterly basis. The Fund’s activity levels in the US are not impacted during this 

Canadian spring break-up period.

Liquidity 
(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentage amounts)

Years ended December 31,  2006 2005

Cash flow  28,909 2�,2�6

Cash distributions paid to unitholders  16,326 �0,�89

Cash payout ratio  56% 5�%

Working capital  19,611 �8,2��

Cash flow for the year ended December ��, 2006 increased by �6 percent over 2005 to a record of $28.9 million due primarily 

to higher activity levels.

As at December ��, 2006 the Fund had working capital of $�9.6 million which was $�.� million higher than the $�8.2 million 

reported at December ��, 2005. From increases in activity and from the initiative to commence repairing a portion of the 

Fund’s mud motor fleet in-house, accounts receivable and inventory balances increased in the year. Higher accounts payable 

and income tax payable balances also created by the increase in activity, offset a portion of this. The change in the current 

portion of long-term debt resulted from Phoenix entering into a new extendible debt facility with its banker at the end of 

the year. 
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Cash Flow, Distributions And Payout Ratio
The Fund considers its maintenance capital expenditures to be minimal. Maintenance capital would only be relevant to the 

Fund’s retirement of tubular equipment that is subsequently replaced. Typically, lost in hole equipment is replaced but these 

losses are funded by the proceeds from insurance or customers. In addition, due to the nature of the industry, downhole 

MWD and mud motor equipment is frequently re-conditioned to an “as new” state with the associated costs expensed and 

included in the Fund’s operating expenses. Consequently the Fund considers its distributable cash from operations to be 

equal to its cash flow. 

The Fund reviews its distribution levels on a quarterly basis and sets its rates taking into consideration its own financial 

performance, forecasted activity levels and industry outlook. Currently the Fund targets its annualized payout ratio to ideally 

be 65 percent of its cash flow, in order to provide sufficient funding for capital growth expenditures. Activity levels in the 

industry are seasonal, as discussed in “Summary of Quarterly Results” and, as a result, cash flow will fluctuate. Despite these 

fluctuations, Phoenix’s policy is to pay a consistent level of distributions throughout the year.

For 2006, cash distributions of $�6.� million were financed entirely from the Fund’s cash flow. Under the current level 

of forecasted activity in the Fund, it is anticipated that sufficient cash flow from operations will be generated to allow the 

Fund to maintain its current cash distribution rate to unitholders. The declared distributions to unitholders in 2006 will be 

classified �00 percent as investment income and will be taxed in the unitholders’ hands on that basis. 

Circumstances may arise that could adversely affect the Fund’s cash flow from operations such as reduced capital spending by 

producer companies and decreasing world oil and natural gas commodity prices. If a sustained downturn in activity occurred, 

the Fund would review its distribution levels accordingly. However, due to the Fund’s low level of debt and strong financial 

strength, debt facilities could be utilized to fund a certain portion of distributions for the short term if required. 

Investing Activites
Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December ��, 2006 was $�0.8 million as compared to $��.6 million in 

2005. The Fund continued to invest in capital equipment in 2006, spending $�2.� million on drilling and other equipment. 

This allowed Phoenix to expand its MWD fleet by �5 systems and helped the Fund to minimize expensive third-party 

equipment rentals, thereby improving profitability. The capital expenditure program undertaken in the year was financed 

entirely from cash flow from operations. In 2005, $9.� million in capital additions were undertaken again for fleet and 

downhole tool expansion. 

The Fund realized proceeds from the involuntary disposal of drilling equipment in well bores of $2.0 million in 2006, 

compared to $2.� million in 2005.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Capital Expenditures
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In 2005, Phoenix invested cash of $�.� million in the Wellco business asset acquisition. From this acquisition, Phoenix 

added 6 positive pulse guidance systems, �� downhole mud motors, �0 auto survey systems and other ancillary equipment 

to its fleet. An amount of $250,000 was placed in trust in 2005 relating to this acquisition and early in 2006, $200,000 was 

released to the vendor to conclude the purchase price.

Phoenix has undertaken significant capital asset expansion programs since 200� as shown below:

Financing Activities
The Fund had negative cash flow from financing activities of $��.� million in 2006 as compared to $�.� million in 2005. 

During 2006:

• The Fund made distributions of $�6.� million to unitholders or $0.��5 per unit. Due to the strength of its cash flows, 

the Fund raised its cash distribution rate paid to unitholders from $0.05 per unit to $0.065 per unit or �0 percent. This 

equated to an annualized payout of $0.�8 per unit, compared to $0.60 per unit before the increase. The increase was 

effective for the Fund’s March distribution, payable on April ��, 2006;

• The Fund made long-term debt repayments of $�.5 million in the year; and,

• Through its option program the Fund received cash proceeds of $���,000 from exercised options to acquire �5�,209 

units.

The Fund issued �,200,000 units at a price of $9.00 per unit by way of a short form prospectus in October 2005, for gross 

proceeds of $�0.8 million. Proceeds were used to assist the Fund with the financing of the Wellco acquisition and a portion 

of its future capital expenditure programs. 

Capital Resources
The Fund has access to a demand revolving loan facility of up to $5.0 million. This facility would bear interest at the Fund’s 

option at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.��5 percent or the bank’s bankers’ acceptance rate plus a stamping fee of �.25 percent. 

No amount on the facility was drawn as at December ��, 2006. 
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On December �5, 2006 the Fund entered into a $20 million, �6�-day extendible revolving facility with its bank. This bears 

interest at the Fund’s option at the bank’s prime rate plus 0.��5 percent or the bank’s bankers’ acceptance rate plus a stamping 

fee of �.25 percent. The facility is renewable at the option of the lender. Should this facility not be extended, outstanding 

amounts will be transferred to a four-year term facility repayable at �/25 of the amount outstanding for fifteen quarters with 

the remaining balance paid on the sixteenth quarter. At December ��, 2006 $�.��5 million was drawn on this facility.

As at December ��, 2006, the Fund was in compliance with all of its bank debt covenants.

Cash Requirements For Capital Expenditures
Historically, the Fund has financed its capital expenditures and acquisitions through cash flow from operations, debt and 

equity. The 200� capital budget has been set at $�.9 million and this includes the addition of a further 5 MWD systems. The 

planned capital expenditures will be financed from cash flow from operations and by the Fund’s unused credit facilities if 

necessary. If future growth opportunities present themselves, the Fund would not hesitate to expand this planned capital 

expenditure amount. Conversely if a sustained downturn in activity occured, the Fund would modify its capital expenditure 

and acquisition strategies accordingly. 

Contractual Obligations
The Company has various contractual obligations outstanding that have been incurred in the normal course of operations:

(Stated in dollars) Total 1 Year 2-3 Years 4-5 Years

Long-term debt �,��5,000 – 568,000 �,20�,000

Operating leases 6,�90,568 �,6��,0�5 2,989,��� 2,�8�,��2

Purchase obligations 2,6�5,85� 2,6�5,85� – –

Total contractual obligations ��,20�,�25 �,2�9,8�2 �,55�,��� �,�9�,��2

The purchase obligations are commitments that were outstanding as at December ��, 2006 for drilling and other equipment.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Fund had no off-balance sheet arrangements as at December ��, 2006 and 2005.

Transactions With Related Parties
During 2006 the Fund was charged $29�,8�5 (2005 – $200,2�8) for the provision of various legal services from a director’s 

firm of which he is a partner. During the year the Fund paid $�6,250 (2005 – $5,���) in director’s fees to a company 

owned by a director. These transactions were completed in the normal course of operations on normal market terms and are 

measured at the exchange amounts.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis



2006 Annual Report �52006 Annual Report �5

Fourth Quarter
Financial Highlights (unaudited)
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per unit and percentage amounts)

Quarters ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Operating Results

Revenue 28,882 2�,6�6 �� 

Net earnings 6,273 �,8�0 �0 

Earnings per unit – diluted 0.28 0.2� �� 

EBITDA  8,608 �,290 �8 

EBITDA per unit – diluted  0.38 0.�2 �9

Cash Flow

Cash flow  8,402 �,65� �0 

Cash flow per unit – diluted  0.37 0.�� �2 

Cash distributions made  4,343 �,0�� �� 

Cash distributions per unit 0.195 0.�� �9 

Cash payout ratio  52% �0%  

The financial results for the quarter ended December ��, 2006 are at record levels for a fourth quarter, and are the second 

best result for any quarter in Phoenix’s history.

Revenue
Overall revenue for the three-month period ended December ��, 2006 increased by �� percent to $28.9 million from $2�.6 

million in the corresponding 2005 period. 

Segmented Revenue 
(Stated in thousands of dollars)

Quarters ended December 31, 2006 2005 % Change

Canada 16,332 ��,5�� �2

United States 12,550 �,�09 ��

  28,882 2�,6�6 �� 

Despite a slowdown in horizontal and directional natural gas drilling activity in the fourth quarter of 2006, Phoenix’s revenue 

of $�6.� million in Canada was its best ever fourth quarter result and the second best result for any quarter. The industry 

in Canada reported a decline of horizontal and directional wells drilled in the fourth quarter of 2006 with only �,828 wells 

drilled as compared to 2,�58 wells drilled in the fourth quarter of 2005. This represented a decline of �5 percent. (Source: 

Daily Oil Bulletin) The Fund’s diversification into oil well drilling services was important in achieving strong activity levels. 

In the fourth quarter the Fund estimates that �� percent of Phoenix’s revenue was achieved through the drilling of oil wells 

predominantly in southern Saskatchewan.
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In the US, drilling activity remained strong in all regional centres and revenue increased to a record $�2.6 million in the 2006 

quarter or �� percent from $�.� million for the 2005 comparable quarter. Due to the strength in this segment, US revenue 

accounted for �� percent of consolidated revenue. In comparison the average number of active rigs in the fourth quarter of 

2006 in the US increased by 25 percent to �0� rigs as compared to 56� rigs in 2005. (Source: Baker Hughes) 

Operating Costs and Expenses
(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentage amounts)

Quarters ended December 31,  2006 2005 % Change

Direct costs 17,225 �2,0�� ��

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue 40% ��% 

SG&A costs 3,178 2,�66 ��

SG&A as a percentage of revenue 11% ��%  

Direct costs increased by $5.� million or �� percent to $��.2 million for the quarter ended December ��, 2006. As the 

increase in costs was higher than the increase in revenue, gross profit as a percentage of revenue declined from �� percent in 

2005 to �0 percent in 2006. This result was due to the following:

• Additional staff and costs were added in the fourth quarter of 2006 related to the set up of the mud motor repair shops in 

Calgary and Traverse City. As the repair activities did not commence on a large scale until January 200�, significant cost 

savings associated with the repairs did not eventuate until 200�; and,

• Other increases were experienced in field labour costs due to the tight US labour market and costs relating to new office 

and shop facilities in Traverse City and Casper. 

SG&A costs as a percentage of revenue were identical in both quarters. The increase in SG&A by $0.8 million or �� percent, to 

$�.2 million in 2006 was due to increases in marketing related costs associated with a higher level of activity and, an increase 

in bad debt provisions of $0.2 million. It is anticipated that going forward into 200� SG&A costs will be between �0 percent 

and �� percent of revenue.

Despite large capital expenditure programs in the past few periods depreciation increased by only 9 percent to $�.� million in 

the 2006 quarter from $�.6 million in 2005. Some downhole equipment had reached its residual value, lowering the overall 

depreciation charge to operations. 

(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentage amounts)

Quarters ended December 31, 2006 2005 % Change

Income taxes 631 9�0 (�2)

Effective tax rate 9% �6%  

For the quarter ended December ��, 2006, the Fund reported a provision for income taxes of $0.6 million as compared to 

$0.9 million in 2005. The lower effective tax rate in the 2006 quarter as compared to 2005 is due primarily to the recognition 

of reductions in future enacted federal and provincial income tax rates in the quarter.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Proposed Transactions
The Fund currently has no plans to make any material business acquisitions or capital asset divestitures. In 200�, the Fund 

plans to spend $�.9 million in capital equipment acquisitions. 

Critical Accounting Estimates
The consolidated financial statements of the Fund are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The Fund’s significant accounting 

policies are described under Note � to these statements. Management, in preparing these financial statements, is required to 

make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. These estimates 

and judgments are based upon assumptions that are considered reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could 

differ from such estimates and judgments by a material amount. The estimates and judgments used that are most critical to 

the reporting of the Fund’s results of operations, cash flow, and financial position are as follows:

Revenue Recognition
The Fund recognizes revenue as services are provided. The Fund’s services are sold based upon bid acceptances of contracts 

with customers that include fixed or determinable prices based upon daily, hourly, or job rates. Revenue is recognized when 

services or rentals are provided, and when collections are assured.

Valuation of Accounts Receivable
The Fund’s trade accounts receivable are reviewed on an ongoing basis and the Fund makes an allowance for specific accounts 

that are deemed to be uncollectable. Due to the nature of exploration risks taken by producer companies, the ability of these 

companies to fulfill their obligations can change quickly, and the valuation of accounts receivable may become impaired.

Depreciation of Drilling and Other Equipment
The Fund has estimated the useful lives and residual values of its drilling and other equipment. The Fund has also estimated 

the depreciation method that best reflects the utilization pattern of the various assets. These estimates can change as 

technological advancements are made within the industry and adjustments may become necessary.

Long-Lived Assets
Management assesses the carrying value of long-lived assets on a periodic basis for indications of impairment. Indications 

of impairment include an ongoing lack of profitability and significant changes in technology. Due to technological advances 

that may occur in the industry in the future, long-lived assets could become impaired in subsequent periods.

Goodwill
Goodwill is not amortized, and is tested for impairment annually at the end of each financial year. Management of the Fund 

has determined that there has been no impairment to the carrying value of goodwill as at December ��, 2006. Due to the 

cyclical nature of the industry, goodwill valuations could be materially different in the future.

Income Taxes
The Fund’s subsidiaries follow the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method, future income 

tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 

statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Valuation allowances are taken 

against future tax assets when it is determined, that it is more likely than not, that the asset will not be realized in its 

entirety. The Fund’s subsidiaries have also recorded benefits associated with investment and foreign business tax credits. 
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The subsidiaries forecasted future income tax liability takes into consideration whether a valuation allowance is required 

with respect to tax loss carry-forward amounts or whether the tax credits recognized would be realizable. Due to the cyclical 

nature of the industry, the future forecasted income tax liability could change, and the realization of these assets in whole 

or in part may not occur.

Translation of Foreign Subsidiary
The Fund’s US subsidiary is accounted for as a self-sustaining operation. Accordingly, the subsidiary’s accounts in foreign 

currencies and operations have been translated into Canadian dollars using the current rate method. Monetary and non-

monetary items denominated in US dollars are translated to Canadian dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the balance 

sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the month the transaction occurred. 

Gains or losses arising on translation are deferred and reported as a foreign currency adjustment as a separate component of 

unitholders’ equity. Circumstances can change in the future whereby the subsidiary could be classified as fully integrated and, 

as a result, gains or losses arising on translation would be charged or credited against net earnings.

Stock-Based Compensation
The Fund has a unit option plan that is described in the notes to its annual audited financial statements. The fair value of each 

option granted is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using various assumptions. The use of different 

assumptions could materially alter the amount of stock-based compensation expense charged against net earnings.

Changes In Accounting Policies
There has been no change in accounting policies for the year ended December ��, 2006. 

Future Changes In Accounting Policies
In 200� the Fund will adopt the CICA handbook sections �855 Financial Instruments, �865 Hedges and �5�0 Comprehensive 

Income. These standards are not anticipated to have a material impact on the financial results of the Fund in 200�. 

Financial Instruments
Credit Risk
The Fund is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration and 

development industry. Ultimate collection of the amounts due from customers may be dependant upon general industry 

conditions and commodity price levels.

Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The carrying values of accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, income taxes payable, and distributions 

payable approximate their fair value due to the relatively short periods to maturity of the instruments. The fair value of long-

term debt included in the consolidated balance sheet approximates fair values as the indebtedness is subject to floating rates 

of interest.

Interest Rate Risk
The Fund manages its exposure to interest rate risk through floating bankers’ acceptance rate borrowings. At December ��, 

2006, the Fund’s long-term debt was $�.��5 million.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Foreign Exchange Risk
Due to operations of the Fund’s subsidiary in the US, the Fund has an exposure to foreign currency exchange rates. Both the 

carrying values and earnings are subject to foreign exchange risk. Currently, there is no management program in place to 

mitigate this risk as it is not considered to be significant.

Outstanding Fund Unit Data
(In thousands of units) As at February 28, 2007

Fund units – basic 22,2�9

Dilutive securities: 

Options �,8�6

Fund units – diluted 2�,�25

Business Risk Factors
The Fund’s operations are subject to certain factors that are beyond its control:

Demand for Services
Demand for the Fund’s horizontal and directional drilling technology and services depends largely on the level of capital 

spending by oil and natural gas companies for exploration, development, and production activities in western Canada and 

the US. No assurance can be given that current levels of oil and natural gas drilling activities will be maintained or increase, 

or that demand for the Fund’s technology and services will reflect the level of drilling activities. As well, exploration and 

development drilling activities depend in large measure upon oil and natural gas prices which may be affected by local or 

international factors, or by governmental regulation that cannot be accurately predicted. The business of the Fund is directly 

affected by fluctuations in world energy prices that in turn have a large influence on the level of drilling activity carried on 

by the Fund’s customers.

Federal Income Tax Considerations
On October ��, 2006 the Federal Minister of Finance proposed to apply a tax at the trust level on distributions of certain 

income from publicly traded mutual fund trusts at rates of tax comparable to the combined federal and provincial corporate 

tax and to treat such distributions as dividends to the unitholders (the “October �� Proposals”). On December 2�, 2006 the 

Federal Minister of Finance released draft legislation to implement the October �� Proposals pursuant to which, commencing 

January �, 20�� (provided the Trust only experiences “normal growth” and no “undue expansion” before then) certain 

distributions from the Trust which would have otherwise been taxed as ordinary income generally will be characterized 

as dividends, in addition to being subject to tax at corporate rates at the trust level. Assuming the October �� Proposals 

are ultimately enacted in their form, the implementation of such legislation would be expected to result in adverse tax 

consequences to the Trust and certain unitholders (including particularly, unitholders who are tax-deferred or are non-

residents of Canada) and may impact cash distributions from the Trust. It is not known at this time when the October �� 

Proposals will be enacted by Parliament, if at all, or whether the October �� Proposals will be enacted in the form currently 

proposed. Given the four-year grace period before existing trusts will be taxed, Phoenix has an opportunity to examine its 

strategy and, if warranted, to modify its structure to provide the best possible return for its unitholders. 
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Environmental Risks
All phases of the oil and natural gas business present environmental risks and hazards and are subject to environmental 

regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, provincial and local laws and regulations. Compliance with such legislation can 

require significant expenditures and a breach may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, some of which may be 

material. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner expected to result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger 

fines and liability and potentially increased capital expenditures and operating costs. In 2002, the Government of Canada 

ratified the Kyoto Protocol (the “Protocol”), which calls for Canada to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions to specified levels. 

There has been much public debate with respect to Canada’s ability to meet these targets and the government’s strategy or 

alternative strategies with respect to climate change and the control of greenhouse gases. Implementation of strategies for 

reducing greenhouse gases, whether to meet the limits required by the Protocol or as otherwise determined, could have 

a material impact on the nature of oil and natural gas operations, including those of the Fund and the Fund’s customers. 

Given the evolving nature of the debate related to climate change and the control of greenhouse gases and the possible 

resulting requirements, it is not possible to predict either the nature of those requirements or the impact on the Fund and 

its operations and financial condition.

Employees
The success of the Fund will be dependent upon key personnel. Loss of the services of such persons could have a material 

adverse effect on the business and operations of the Fund. The ability of the Fund to expand its services is dependent upon 

its ability to attract additional qualified employees.

Access to Equipment and Development of New Technology
The ability of the Fund to compete and expand is dependent upon it having access at a reasonable cost to certain drilling 

equipment and components, and to develop or acquire new competitive technology. The Fund purchases equipment from 

various suppliers in the oil and natural gas drilling service industry. There can be no assurance that these sources for 

equipment will be maintained. If such equipment is not available, and is not available from any other source, the Fund’s 

ability to compete may be impaired.

Credit Risk
All of the Fund’s receivables are with customers within the oil and natural gas service industry within Canada and the US. 

Collection of these receivables may be impacted by unfavourable industry conditions including fluctuations in the level of 

commodity prices. 

Competition
The Fund’s major competitors are principally large multinational companies with significantly greater resources available for 

marketing and R&D programs. The Fund also competes with a number of other small and medium sized companies. Like the 

Fund, these companies have certain competitive advantages such as low overhead costs and specialized regional strengths. 

The Fund’s ability to generate revenue depends on its ability to obtain contracts and to perform services within projected 

times and costs.

Access to Financing
Currently the Fund has sufficient debt facilities to fund its planned level of capital expenditures. There is no certainty, 

however, that future debt or equity financing will be available on acceptable terms to fund Phoenix’s future capital 

expenditures or business acquisitions. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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Oil and Natural Gas Industry Risk
There are risks associated with the provision of drilling services to the oil and natural gas industry. The Fund may become 

liable for risks against which it may choose not to insure due to high premium costs, or which may exceed the limits of policy 

coverage. Interruptions and delays caused by adverse weather conditions, equipment failures or other events can significantly 

adversely affect revenue. While the Fund will maintain liability insurance, the insurance is subject to coverage limits. There 

can be no assurance that insurance will continue to be available to the Fund on commercially reasonable terms, that the 

possible types of liabilities that may be incurred by the Fund will be covered by its insurance or that the dollar amount of 

such liabilities will not exceed policy limits. Even a partially uninsured claim, if successful and of sufficient magnitude, could 

have a material adverse effect on business, results of operations and prospects.

Seasonality
In general, the level of activity of the Canadian oilfield service industry is influenced by seasonable weather patterns. Wet 

weather and the spring thaw may make the ground unstable. Consequently, municipalities and provincial transportation 

departments enforce road bans that restrict the movement of rigs and other heavy equipment, thereby reducing activity 

levels. Additionally, certain oil and natural gas producing areas are located in areas that are inaccessible, except during winter 

months, because the ground surrounding or containing the drilling sites in these areas consists of swampy terrain known 

as muskeg.

Foreign Operations
The Fund will conduct a certain portion of its business in the United States. Any change in government policies could have 

a significant impact on business in the United States. Risks of foreign operations include, but are not necessarily limited 

to changes of laws affecting foreign ownership, government participation, taxation, royalties, duties, rates of exchange, 

inflation, exchange control, and repatriation of earnings. There are no assurances that the economic and political conditions 

in the countries in which the Fund operates will continue as they are at the present time. The effect of these factors cannot 

be accurately predicted.

See also the risk factors described in the Fund’s Annual Information Form.

Corporate Governance
This MD&A has been prepared by the management of Phoenix Technology Services Inc., the administrator of the Phoenix 

Technology Income Fund. The MD&A has also been reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee and the Board of 

Directors of Phoenix Technology Services Inc. Additional information relating to the Fund’s Corporate Governance can 

be found in the Fund’s Annual Information Form (“AIF”) and Information Circular, each of which is filed on SEDAR at  

www.sedar.com.

Disclosure Controls And Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Fund 

is accumulated and communicated to the Fund’s management as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required 

disclosure. The Fund’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded, based on their evaluation as of 

the end of the period covered by the Fund’s annual filings for the most recently completed financial year, that the Fund’s 

disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of such period are effective to provide reasonable assurance that material 

information related to the Fund, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to them by others within those 

entities.
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Controls Over Financial Reporting
Internal controls have been designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the Fund’s financial 

reporting and the preparation of financial statements together with the other financial information for external purposes in 

accordance with Canadian GAAP. The Fund’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed or caused to 

be designed under their supervision internal controls over financial reporting related to the Fund, including its consolidated 

subsidiaries except as noted below:

Due to the relatively small size of the Fund’s accounting and finance department there are a limited number of personnel 

dealing with accounting and financial matters and, as a result, there is a lack of segregation of duties. However, management 

of the Fund has concluded that there are controls in place to compensate for any control weaknesses that may result.

The Fund’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are required to cause the Fund to disclose herein any change 

in the Fund’s internal control or financial reporting that occurred during its most recent interim period that materially 

affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting. During 2006, the 

Fund engaged external consultants to assist with its documention and assessment of the Fund’s design of internal controls 

over financial reporting. No material changes were identified in the Fund’s internal control of financial reporting during the 

three months ended December ��, 2006 that had materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Fund’s 

internal control of financial reporting.

It should be noted that a control system, including the Fund’s disclosure and internal controls and procedures, no matter how 

well conceived, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system will be met 

and it should not be expected that the disclosure and internal controls and procedures will prevent all errors or fraud.

Non-GAAP Measures
a) The following is a reconciliation of EBITDA to net earnings:

(Stated in thousands of dollars) Quarters ended December 31, Years ended December 31,

 2006 2005 2006 2005

EBITDA as reported $  8,608 $  �,290  $  29,950 $ 2�,�0� 

Add:

Interest income  (13)  28   70  �09 

Deduct:

Depreciation and amortization  (1,661)   (�,52�)  (6,190)   (5,089)

Interest on long-term debt  (30)   (5�)  (141)   (��8)

  6,904  5,��0  23,689  �6,��� 

Provision for income taxes  631  9�0  3,051  2,080 

Net earnings $  6,273 $  �,8�0  $  20,638 $ ��,06� 

Diluted EBITDA per unit is calculated using the treasury stock method where deemed proceeds on the exercise of the unit 

options are considered to be used to re-acquire fund units at an average unit price. The calculation of EBITDA per unit on a 

dilutive basis does not include anti-dilutive options. 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
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b) The following is a reconciliation of cash flow to cash flow provided by operating activities:

(Stated in thousands of dollars) Quarters ended December 31, Years ended December 31,

 2006 2005 2006 2005

Cash flow $  8,402 $ �,65�  $ 28,909 $ 2�,2�6 

Changes in non-cash working capital   395  (�,8�9)  (2,968)  (9,882)

Cash flow provided by operating activities $  8,797 $  2,��8  $ 25,941 $ ��,�5� 

Diluted cash flow per unit is calculated using the treasury stock method where deemed proceeds on the exercise of the unit options 

are considered to be used to re-acquire fund units at an average unit price. The calculation of cash flow per unit on a dilutive basis 

does not include anti-dilutive options. 

Outlook
Due to weaknesses in oil and natural gas prices, Canadian industry analysts are predicting a decrease in completed wells in 200�.  

A recent PSAC forecast is predicting that there will be 2�,000 wells drilled in Canada in 200�, which is a decrease of �0 percent 

from 2006. However, as the Fund is currently operating at or near record levels in both Canada and the US, management remains 

cautiously optimistic about the upcoming year.  The Fund has positioned itself with strong geographical diversification in the US and 

with oil well drilling in Saskatchewan and, it foresees successes continuing in these regions.  The US market is perceived as having 

exceptional growth opportunities that the Fund hopes to capitalize on in 200� thereby further increasing its market share.  

The Fund’s capital expenditure plans in 200� will be reviewed as the year progresses but with Phoenix’s low level of debt, 

management considers it to be well-positioned to spend capital where necessary and take advantage of new opportunities as they  

present themselves. 

Research and development efforts will intensify in 200� in order that Phoenix can continue to provide leading-edge technology 

to its customers into the future.  The Fund’s efforts to enter the SAGD oil well drilling market will continue with additional field 

trials of its Inclination-at-Bit technology. Additional tests of the Fund’s coil tubing orienter are also scheduled for 200�. The Fund 

expects to commercialize several projects in 200� that will allow it to further gain market share and enter unconventional lucrative  

drilling markets.

It is expected that with Phoenix’s in-house servicing of mud motors in the Calgary and Michigan regions the Fund will be able to 

realize important increases in profitability in 200� through decreases in motor service costs. Other cost saving initiatives will be 

implemented where appropriate that in aggregate may help to lessen the impact of weaker drilling activity that may eventuate.
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The accompanying consolidated financial statements and 

all information in the Annual Report are the responsibility 

of management. The consolidated financial statements 

have been prepared by management in accordance with the 

accounting policies in the notes to financial statements. 

When necessary, management has made informed 

judgments and estimates in accounting for transactions 

which were not complete at the balance sheet date. In the 

opinion of management, the financial statements have been 

prepared within acceptable limits of materiality, and are in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles (GAAP) appropriate in the circumstances. The 

financial information elsewhere in the Annual Report 

has been reviewed to ensure consistency with that in the 

consolidated financial statements.

Management has prepared Management’s Discussion and 

Analysis (MD&A). The MD&A is based upon the Fund’s 

financial results prepared in accordance with Canadian 

GAAP. The MD&A compares the audited financial results for 

the twelve months ended December ��, 2006 to December 

��, 2005. 

Management maintains appropriate systems of internal 

control. Policies and procedures are designed to give 

reasonable assurance that transactions are properly 

authorized, assets are safeguarded and financial records 

properly maintained to provide reliable information for the 

preparation of financial statements.

KPMG LLP, an independent firm of Chartered Accountants, 

was engaged by Computershare Trust Company of 

Canada, trustee of the Fund, to audit the consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted 

auditing standards in Canada and provide an independent 

professional opinion.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of Phoenix 

Technology Services Inc., which is comprised of three 

directors who are not employees of the Corporation, has 

discussed the consolidated financial statements, including 

the notes thereto, with management and external auditors. 

The consolidated financial statements have been approved 

by the Board of Directors on the recommendations of the 

Audit Committee.

John Hooks Cameron Ritchie, CA

Chairman of the Board,  Senior Vice-President Finance 

President and and Chief Financial Officer 

Chief Executive Officer 

February 28, 200�

[Signed] “John Hooks” [Signed] “Cameron Ritchie”

Management’s Report  
to the Unitholders
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Auditors’ Report  
to the Unitholders

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Phoenix 

Technology Income Fund as at December ��, 2006 and 2005 

and the consolidated statements of earnings and retained 

earnings and cash flows for the years then ended. These 

consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of 

the Fund’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 

opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 

our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian 

generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 

require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 

free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 

on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 

assessing the accounting principles used and significant 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 

overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements 

present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 

of the Fund as at December ��, 2006 and 2005 and the 

results of its earnings and its cash flows for the years then 

ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants 

Calgary, Canada

February 28, 200�

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS

[Signed] “KPMG LLP”
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings 

December 31,  2006  2005

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents  $  1,763,191  $  �,96�,950 

Accounts receivable   30,355,422    2�,�8�,�82 

Inventory   1,189,254    �25,5�8 

Prepaid expenses   1,075,697    �88,2�6 

    34,383,564    29,660,��6 

 

Drilling and other equipment (note �)   35,208,134    29,80�,982 

Goodwill   8,876,351    8,8�6,�5� 

Cash in trust (note 2)   –    250,000 

Intangible assets (note �)   –    ��,500 

  $  78,468,049  $  68,6��,9�9 

Liabilities And Unitholders’ Equity

Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $  12,130,147  $  8,�05,�96 

Distributions payable (note �)   1,447,861    �,�06,028 

Income taxes payable   1,195,000    ��2,000 

Current portion of long-term debt (note 8)   –    �,500,000 

    14,773,008    ��,���,52� 

 

Long-term debt (note 8)   1,775,000    �,��5,000 

Future income taxes (note 9b)   3,012,000    �,825,��� 

    19,560,008    �5,0��,9�5 

Unitholders’ equity:

Unitholders’ capital (note �0a)   43,509,547    ��,���,92� 

Contributed surplus (note ��)   2,042,311    �,0��,�65 

Foreign currency adjustment   (1,615,893)   (�,86�,��2)

Retained earnings   14,972,076    ��,00�,�98 

    58,908,041    5�,588,0�� 

 

  $  78,468,049  $  68,6��,9�9 

 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of Phoenix Technology Income Fund by Phoenix Technology Services Inc. as administrator:

John Hooks  Cameron Bailey

Chairman of the Board  Director

Consolidated Balance Sheets

[Signed] “John Hooks” [Signed] “Cameron Bailey”
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Consolidated Statements of Earnings

Consolidated Statements of Retained Earnings 

Years ended December 31,  2006  2005

Revenue $  99,346,209  $  69,�82,6�5 

Direct costs   59,873,380    ��,��5,9�2 

Gross profit   39,472,829    28,��6,6�� 

Expenses:

Selling, general and administrative   10,007,796    �,�8�,9�� 

Depreciation and amortization (notes � & �)   6,190,325    5,089,0�9 

Foreign exchange loss    113,715    ��9,6�� 

Interest on long-term debt   140,747    ��8,8�� 

Other interest   (70,649)   (�09,20�)

Gain on disposition of drilling equipment   (598,223)   (�89,�68)

    15,783,711    �2,00�,0�5 

Earnings before income taxes   23,689,118    �6,��2,568 

 

Provision for income taxes (note 9a)

Current   1,892,000    8�,000 

Future   1,159,000    �,996,000 

    3,051,000    2,080,000 

Net earnings $  20,638,118  $  ��,062,568 

Earnings per unit - basic (note �0b) $ 0.93  $ 0.6� 

Earnings per unit - diluted (note �0b) $ 0.92  $ 0.66 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Years ended December 31,  2006  2005

Retained earnings, beginning of year $  11,001,798  $  8,009,99� 

Net earnings   20,638,118    ��,062,568 

Distributions (note �)   (16,667,840)   (��,0�0,�6�)

Retained earnings, end of year $  14,972,076  $  ��,00�,�98 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Years ended December 31,  2006  2005

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net earnings $  20,638,118  $  ��,062,568 

Add (deduct) items not affecting cash:  

Depreciation and amortization   6,190,325    5,089,0�9 

Future income taxes   1,159,000    �,996,000 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss    143,829    ��5,5�8 

Gain on disposition of drilling equipment   (598,223)   (�89,�68)

Stock-based compensation (note �0c)   1,078,050    525,56� 

Provision for bad debt    297,498    206,8�9

     28,908,597    2�,2�6,��� 

Change in non-cash working capital (note �2)   (2,967,727)   (9,882,29�)

     25,940,870    ��,�5�,082 

  

Cash flows from investing activities:  

Proceeds on disposition of drilling equipment   1,995,247    2,252,8�� 

Acquisition of drilling and other equipment   (12,749,770)   (9,�90,�9�)

Change in non-cash working capital (note �2)   (85,516)   ��2,2�8 

Business acquisition (note 2)   –    (�,69�,555)

Cash in trust (note 2)   50,000    (250,000)

     (10,790,039)   (��,6�6,829)

Cash flows from financing activities:  

Issuance of units   473,418    �0,6�2,508 

Repayment of long-term debt   (1,500,000)   (�,500,000)

Distributions to unitholders (note �)   (16,326,008)   (�0,�88,��5)

     (17,352,590)   (�,6�6,22�)

Increase in bank indebtedness   (2,201,759)   (�,968,9��)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   3,964,950    5,9��,92� 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $  1,763,191  $  �,96�,950 

Supplemental information: 

Income taxes paid (received) $  874,694  $  (���,��2)

Interest paid $  114,237  $  ��8,9�� 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Years ended December ��, 2006 and 2005 

Phoenix Technology Income Fund (the “Fund”) is an unincorporated open-ended investment trust governed by the laws 

of the province of Alberta pursuant to a Trust Indenture dated May �9, 200� between Phoenix Technology Services Inc. 

(“PTSI”) and Computershare Trust Company of Canada. PTSI is the administrator of the Fund. Its powers are set out in an 

administration agreement between itself and the Trustee. The Trustee, on recommendation of PTSI, will declare payable to 

the unitholders on the distribution record date, all or any part of distributable income out of the Fund’s distributable cash. 

Distributable cash is defined as income received or reasonably entitled to be received, less all expenses and liabilities the 

Fund incurred or anticipated to be incurred.

The Fund through its subsidiaries and partnership provides horizontal and directional drilling services to the oil and natural 

gas industry in western Canada and the United States. The Fund also rents various drilling equipment to oil and natural gas 

companies in western Canada and manufactures technology for lease and internal use.

1. SIgNIFICANT ACCOUNTINg POLICIES:
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Fund and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and have been 

prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 

(a) Revenue recognition
The Fund recognizes revenue as services are provided. The Fund’s services are sold based upon bid acceptances or 

contracts with customers that include fixed or determinable prices based upon daily, hourly or job rates. Revenue is 

recognized when services or equipment rentals are provided and when collectibility is assured.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand with commercial banks and investments in bankers acceptances 

issued by commercial banks and large corporations with an original maturity of three months or less.

(c)  Inventory
Inventory, which consists of spare parts and batteries, is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

(d) Drilling, other equipment and depreciation 
Drilling and other equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided over the 

estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Directional drilling equipment � to 8 years straight line, 0 to 20% residual value

Rental equipment 5 to 8 years straight line, 0 to 20% residual value

Office and computer equipment � to 5 years straight line

Machinery and equipment 5 years straight line

Vehicles 5 years straight line

Notes to Consolidated  
Financial Statements
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(e) Research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Certain product development costs are capitalized once market and technical 

feasibility has been established. Development costs capitalized are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated 

useful lives once commercial production or use of the product occurs. Equipment acquired to conduct research and 

development activities are capitalized and amortized over their estimated useful lives.

(f) Intangible assets
Intangible assets, consisting of non-competition agreements, were recorded at cost and amortized on a straight-line 

basis over a two year term. 

(g) Goodwill
Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the 

amounts allocated to the assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on the fair values. 

Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment at the end of each year, or more frequently if events or changes 

in circumstances indicated that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test is carried out in two steps. In the first 

step, the carrying amount of the reporting segment is compared to its fair value. When the fair value of the reporting 

segment exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting segment is considered not to be impaired and the 

second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. The second step is carried out when the carrying amount of the 

reporting segment’s goodwill exceeds its fair value, in which case the implied fair value of the reporting segment’s 

goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if any. The Fund has 

conducted its annual goodwill assessment and determined that there was no impairment for 2006.

(h) Long-lived assets 
Management assesses the carrying value of long-lived assets on a periodic basis for indications of impairment. 

Indications of impairment include an ongoing lack of profitability and significant changes in technology. When an 

indication of impairment is present, a test for impairment is carried out by comparing the carrying value of the asset 

to its net recoverable amount. If the carrying amount is greater than the net recoverable amount, the asset would be 

written down to its estimated fair value. In 2006 there were no indications of impairment.

(i) Foreign currency translation
The Fund’s United States (“US”) subsidiary is accounted for as a self-sustaining operation. Accordingly, the subsidiary’s 

accounts in foreign currencies and operations have been translated into Canadian dollars using the current rate method. 

Monetary and non-monetary items denominated in US dollars are translated to Canadian dollars at exchange rates in 

effect at the balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the month the 

transaction occurred. Gains or losses arising on translation are deferred and reported as a foreign currency adjustment 

as a separate component of unitholders’ equity.

Transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the operating entities are translated 

by applying exchange rates in effect at the transaction date. At the end of the year, monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at that date. Any resulting foreign exchange 

translation gains and losses are charged to earnings in the year. 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(j) Per unit amounts
Basic per unit amounts are calculated using the weighted average number of fund units outstanding during the period. 

Diluted per unit amounts are calculated using the treasury stock method where deemed proceeds of the exercise of unit 

options are considered to be used to re-acquire fund units at an average unit price. The weighted average number of 

units outstanding is then adjusted by the net change.

(k) Income taxes
The Fund is a mutual fund trust for purposes of the Income Tax Act (Canada) and is only subject to income taxes on 

taxable income not distributed to the unitholders. The Fund’s subsidiaries follow the tax liability method of accounting 

for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated tax consequences 

attributable to differences between the amounts reported in the financial statements of the Corporation and its 

subsidiaries and their respective tax bases, using enacted income tax rates. The effect of a change in income tax rates on 

future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income in the period that the change occurs.

(l) Stock-based compensation plans 
The Fund has a unit option plan which is described in note �0(c). The fair value of unit options that have been expensed 

is credited to contributed surplus.

(m) Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure 

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and 

expenses for the year. The most significant estimates include the valuation of accounts receivable and goodwill. Actual 

results could differ from such estimates by a material amount.

(n) Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s financial statement presentation. 

2. ACqUISITION:
On October 2�, 2005, the Fund completed the acquisition of the assets and the business of a horizontal and directional 

drilling services division of the Wellco Energy Services Partnership. The division conducted its drilling business 

throughout western Canada.

The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method. The details of which were as follows: 

Consideration:

Cash  $ �,69�,555

Allocated to: 

Drilling and other equipment $ �,69�,555

In addition to the cash consideration paid, a holdback in the amount of $250,000 was placed in trust. This was to be 

released to the vendor if certain operational criteria was met over a future period. Of this holdback, $200,000 was 

released to the vendor and allocated to drilling and other equipment in 2006. The balance of $50,000 will not be paid 

and was allocated to cash.
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3. DRILLINg AND OTHER EqUIPMENT:
  Accumulated Net Book 
2006 Cost Depreciation Value

Directional drilling equipment $ 50,470,691 $ 18,476,413 $ 31,994,278

Rental equipment  3,310,181  1,364,887  1,945,294

Office and computer equipment  1,579,360  1,044,254  535,106

Machinery and equipment  1,139,048  545,108  593,940

Vehicles  314,860  175,344  139,516

  $ 56,814,140 $ 21,606,006 $ 35,208,134

  Accumulated Net Book 
2005 Cost Depreciation Value

Directional drilling equipment $ �0,82�,566 $ ��,�59,�82 $ 2�,06�,�8�

Rental equipment  �,0�2,�8�  9��,595  2,0��,588

Office and computer equipment  �,08�,��9  �85,058  299,�2�

Machinery and equipment  6�2,29�  �2�,22�  209,0�2

Vehicles  ��0,92�  ���,�06  �96,8��

  $ �5,86�,��� $ �6,056,�62 $ 29,80�,982

During the year, the Fund recognized depreciation on drilling and other equipment in the amount of $6,�52,825.

4. INTANgIbLE ASSETS:
  Accumulated Net Book 
2006 Cost Amortization Value

Non-competition agreements $ 300,000 $ 300,000 $ –

  Accumulated Net Book 
2005 Cost Amortization Value

Non-competition agreements $ �00,000 $ 262,500 $ ��,500

During the year, the Fund recognized amortization on intangible assets in the amount of $��,500. 

5. RESEARCH AND DEvELOPMENT COSTS:
Research costs charged to earnings during the year were $�08,009 (2005 – $598,59�) and were net of $�90,0�2 (2005 

– $��,��9) in investment tax credits received. There were no development costs capitalized in the year.

6. DEMAND CREDIT FACILITy:
The Fund has access to a demand revolving credit facility of up to $5.0 million. The demand loan would bear interest at 

the Fund’s option at the banks prime rate plus .��5 percent or at the bank’s bankers acceptance rate plus a stamping fee 

of �.25 percent and is secured by security discussed in Note 8. As at December ��, 2006 the Fund had not drawn any 

amounts on this facility.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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7. DISTRIbUTION PAyAbLE:
During the year, the Fund paid monthly distributions totaling $�6,�26,008 (2005 – $�0,�88,��5). The Fund declared a 

distribution of $0.065 per unit or $�,���,86�, payable on January �5, 200�. In aggregate, distributions of $�6,66�,8�0 

(2005 – $��,0�0,�6�) were declared for the year.

8. LONg-TERM DEbT:
  2006 2005

Extendible revolving facility   $ 1,775,000 $ –

Non-revolving bank loans, with monthly repayments of $�25,000  

plus interest. Interest, at the Fund’s option is at bank’s prime rate plus 

.50 percent or at the bank’s banker’s acceptance rate plus a stamping fee 

of �.25 percent, and is being repaid over a sixty-month period.   –  �,2�5,000

Less current portion    –  �,500,000

      $ 1,775,000 $ �,��5,000

On December �5, 2006, the Fund entered into a $20 million, �6�-day extendible revolving facility with its bank which 

bears interest, payable monthly, at the bank’s prime rate plus .��5 percent or at the bank’s banker’s acceptance rate 

plus a stamping fee of �.25 percent. The facility is renewable annually based on the banks approval. If the facility is 

not renewed, it would convert to a four-year term facility commencing March ��, 2008. If this occurs, the principal 

payments due would be as follows:

2008 $ 28�,000

2009  28�,000

20�0  28�,000

20��  92�,000

 $ �,��5,000

The extendible facility replaced the Fund’s previous five-year non-revolving facility and on December �5, 2006 the 

balance under the old facility of $�,��5,000 was transferred to the new extendible facility.

The demand credit facility, and the extendible facility are secured by a general security over all assets of the Fund and an 

assignment of related insurance coverage.
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9. INCOME TAxES:
(a) The provision for income taxes differs from the amounts that would be obtained by applying the expected combined  

 federal and provincial statutory income tax rate of �2.5 percent (2005 – �� percent) as follows:

  2006 2005

Expected income tax expense    $ 7,698,963 $ 5,�88,���

Add (deduct):

Amounts included in Fund income    (4,611,160)  (�,�6�,060)

Benefit on rate reduction     (439,102)  –

Non-taxable portion of gains on disposal of assets    (123,543)  (55,��5)

Non-deductible stock-based compensation expense    350,366  ��8,69�

Other    175,476  2�2,6�9

    $ 3,051,000 $ 2,080,000

(b) Future income taxes arise from temporary differences, which are differences between the tax basis of an asset or  

 liability and its carrying amount on the balance sheet. The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to  

 significant portions of the future income tax assets and liabilities at December �� are presented below:

  2006 2005

Future income tax liabilities:

Partnership income   $ 6,625,977 $ �,86�,2��

Drilling and other equipment    3,339,622  2,902,2�6

Investment tax credits    495,701  �8�,�60

     10,461,300  8,250,86�

Future income tax assets:

Income tax losses     (4,651,710)  (�,6��,995)

Unit issue costs    (156,420)  (6�6,���)

Other (including foreign and other tax credits)    (2,641,170)  (2,��0,68�)

     (7,449,300)  (6,�25,�56)

Net future income tax liability   $ 3,012,000 $ �,825,���

At December ��, 2006 the Fund has accumulated losses for income tax purposes of $�5.2 million available as a deduction 

against future taxable income. These losses expire primarily during the years 20�� to 20��. In addition, the Fund has an 

unrecognized future tax asset in the amount of $25�,000. 

On October ��, 2006, the Minister of Finance announced its proposal to amend the Income Tax Act (Canada) to apply 

a Distribution Tax on distributions from publicly-traded income trusts. The Minister of Finance has since issued draft 

legislation and further guidance on this amendment, but it is not known at this time if or when this proposal will 

be enacted by Parliament. Under this draft legislation, existing income trusts will be subject to the new measures 

commencing in their 20�� taxation year, following a four-year grace period.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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10. UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL:

(a) Authorized and issued units
The Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of trust units.

  Number Amount

Balance as at December ��, 200�    20,599,855 $ �2,�86,��5

Issued units pursuant to unit option plan    �20,�09  6��,�99

Issued units pursuant to equity financing (note �0e)    �,200,000  �0,��8,009

Balance as at December ��, 2005    22,�20,56� $ ��,���,92�

Issued units pursuant to unit option plan    154,209  580,624

Adjustment of future tax benefit    –  (449,000)

Balance as at December ��, 2006    22,274,773 $ 43,509,547

(b) Basic and diluted earnings per unit
 Income Units Per Unit  
2006 (numerator) (denominator)  Amount

Basic earnings per unit: $ 20,638,118  22,214,886 $ 0.93

Diluted earnings per unit:

Dilutive effect of unit option conversions  –  202,501  

Income available to Fund unitholders $ 20,638,118  22,417,387 $ 0.92

 Income Units Per Unit  
2005 (numerator) (denominator)  Amount

Basic earnings per unit: $ ��,062,568  20,955,��8 $ 0.6�

Diluted earnings per unit:

Dilutive effect of unit option conversions  –  ���,��5  

Income available to Fund unitholders $ ��,062,568  2�,�26,��� $ 0.66

The calculation of diluted earnings per unit excluded anti-dilutive options. These are options that would not be exercised 

because their exercise price is higher than the average market value of the units for the year. Including those options 

would cause the diluted earnings per unit to be overstated. The number of excluded options was 8�6,000 in 2006  

(2005-�,��8,000). 

(c) Unit options
The Fund has a unit option plan for employees, officers, and directors under which unit options granted under the plan 

have a five-year term and vest equally over three periods commencing six months after the date of grant, and the first 

and second anniversaries thereafter.

During 2006, the Fund granted ���,500 unit options at average exercise prices between $�.0� and $�0.2�, with 

expiration dates between March 22, 20�� and November 8, 20��. All of the options exercise prices were higher than 

the market price of the units at the time the grants occurred. In addition a total of �5�,209 options were exercised at an 

exercise price ranging from $0.80 to $8.��, and 69,66� options were cancelled. As at December ��, 2006, the Fund had 

a total of �,8�9,990 options that remain outstanding which expire over a period of two to five years. 
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A summary of the status of the plan as at December ��, 2006, is presented below:

 2006 2005
  Weighted-Average   Weighted-Average 
 Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of year  1,729,366 $ 6.89  69�,82� $ �.9�

Granted  344,500  7.03 *  �,�90,500  8.98

Exercised  (154,209)  3.07  (�20,�09)  2.52

Cancelled  (69,667)  8.32  (�8,252)  �.00

Outstanding, end of year  1,849,990 $ 7.24  �,�29,�66 $ �.��

Options exercisable, end of year  564,965 $ 7.00  9�,69� $ 2.��

* Includes re-pricing effect

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at December ��, 2006 are as follows:

 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
  Weighted-Average      
  Remaining Weighted-Average   Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price Number Contractual Life Exercise Price Number Exercise Price

 2.05  2�,5��  2.0 yrs $ 2.05  2�,5�� $ 2.05

 �.�0  �,�00  2.6 yrs  �.�0  66  �.�0

 �.25  �65,0��  2.8 yrs  �.25  �8,8�0  �.25

 �.0�  �,0��,000  �.6 yrs  �.0�  268,�60  �.0�

 8.��  580,000  �.9 yrs  8.��  �9�,��2  8.��

   �,8�9,990  2.� yrs $ �.2�  56�,965 $ �.00

On November 8, 2006 the Fund re-priced 8�0,000 previously issued unit options with exercise prices between $8.�0 

and $�0.2� to a revised price of $�.0�. All re-priced and new options issued on November 8, 2006 were priced at the 

five-day weighted-average trading price. The fair value of options that were exercised for the year ending December ��, 

2006 in the amount of $�0�,20� (2005 – $�09,002) has been added to unitholders’ capital.

The fair value of each option granted by the Fund was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes options 

pricing model with weighted-average assumptions for grants assuming distributions are paid on units, a risk-free 

interest rate range of �.5 percent to 5.0 percent, an average life of �.0 years, and an expected volatility of 52 percent. 

The weighted-average fair value of each option granted in the year was $�.0�. The amounts computed according to the 

Black-Scholes pricing model may not be indicative of the actual values realized upon the exercise of these options by the 

holders. In 2006, the Fund recognized a total compensation expense of $�,0�8,050 (2005 – $525,56�) for unit options 

granted between 200� and 2006 net of the fair value of options that were cancelled for the year ending December ��, 

2006 of $�8,��8 (2005 – $nil).

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements



2006 Annual Report 5�2006 Annual Report 5�

(d) Normal Course Issuer Bid
On December �5, 2006, the Toronto Stock Exchange (‘TSX’) approved Phoenix’s Normal Course Issuer Bid to purchase 

up to �,�2�,��9 of its trust units on the open market through the facilities of the TSX. The price that Phoenix will pay 

for any trust units under the Bid will be the prevailing market price on the TSX at the time of the purchase. Trust units 

acquired under the Bid will be cancelled. The Bid will terminate on December ��, 200� or such earlier time as the Bid is 

completed or terminated at the option of Phoenix.

(e) Equity financing
In 2005, the Fund issued �,200,000 units pursuant to a short form prospectus for net proceeds of $�0,��8,009, 

including share issue costs of $�2�,99�. The share issue costs are net of a future income tax benefit of $2�0,000.

11. CONTRIbUTED SURPLUS:
  2006 2005

Balance outstanding, beginning of year   $ 1,071,465 $ 65�,900

Stock-based compensation expense (note �0c)    1,078,050  525,56�

Fair value of options exercised (note �0c)    (107,204)  (�09,002)

Balance outstanding, end of year   $ 2,042,311 $ �,0��,�65

12. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOwS:
The changes in non-cash operating working capital items is comprised of the following:

  2006 2005

Decrease (increase) in current assets:

Accounts receivable   $ (6,098,647) $ (�2,�0�,��0)

Inventory    (462,962)  ��2,622

Prepaid expenses    (585,963)  (�0,685)

Increase (decrease) in current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    3,998,819  2,6�9,��0

Income taxes payable    630,632  (28�,98�)

Foreign exchange     (364,090)  (��,�09)

    $ (2,882,211) $ (�0,���,569)

Less: change in working capital related to investing activities   (85,516)  ��2,2�8

Change in non-cash working capital   $ (2,967,727) $ (9,882,29�)
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13. SEgMENTED INFORMATION:
The Fund provides directional and horizontal oil and gas well drilling services. The Fund’s operating segment has been 

aligned geographically as follows:

2006
 Canada United States Total

Revenue  59,602,354  39,743,855  99,346,209

Drilling and other equipment   27,215,667  7,992,467  35,208,134

Goodwill  8,876,351  –  8,876,351

2005
 Canada United States Total

Revenue  ��,��2,225  25,��0,�90  69,�82,6�5

Drilling and other equipment   25,0�0,602  �,�9�,�80  29,80�,982

Goodwill  8,8�6,�5�  –  8,8�6,�5�

14. COMMITMENTS:
The Fund is committed to the following minimum payments under operating leases for equipment and premises:

200� $ �,6��,0�5

2008  �,560,95�

2009  �,�28,�88

20�0  �,���,680

20��  8�2,��2

During the year, the Fund paid $82�,85� (2005 – $�0�,�9�) for various operating leases.

15. RELATED PARTy TRANSACTIONS:
During the year the Fund was charged $29�,8�5 (2005 – $200,2�8) for the provision of various legal services from  

a director’s firm of which he is a partner, and paid $�6,250 (2005 – $5,���) in director fees to a company owned by  

a Director.

These transactions were completed in the normal course of operations on normal market terms and are measured at 

the exchange amounts.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

(a) Credit risk
The Fund is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and gas exploration and development 

industry. The Fund has a credit management program to manage this risk.

(b) Fair values of financial instruments
The carrying values of accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, distributions 

payable, and income taxes payable approximate their fair value due to the relatively short periods to maturity of the 

instruments. The fair value of long-term debt included in the consolidated balance sheet approximates fair values as the 

indebtedness is subject to floating rates of interest.

(c) Interest rate risk 
The Fund manages its exposure to interest rate risk through floating rate borrowings.

(d) Foreign exchange risk 
Due to operations of the Fund’s subsidiary in the US, the Fund has an exposure to foreign currency exchange rates. Both 

the carrying values and earnings are subject to foreign exchange risk. Currently, there is no management program in 

place to mitigate this foreign exchange risk as it is not considered to be significant.
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STOCK ExCHANgE LISTINg

Trust Units of Phoenix Technology Income Fund are  

listed on the TSX under the trading symbol “PHX.UN”.
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Profile
Phoenix Technology Income Fund is a specialized provider of drilling services to the oil and 
natural gas industry throughout North America. Headquartered in Calgary, Alberta, Phoenix 
designs, develops, manufactures, operates and maintains innovative, leading-edge downhole 
tools for directional and horizontal wells. The core business is a growing fleet of Measurement-
While-Drilling (MWD) tools using either mud pulse or electromagnetic telemetry.

Phoenix is a growth business. With operations centres in Alberta, Texas, Michigan and Wyoming, 
Phoenix covers virtually all of North America’s onshore drilling regions. A robust capital program 
in 2006 grew the Fund’s drilling tool fleet to 86 systems. As of year end Phoenix had participated 
in drilling more than 8,000 wells since its founding in 1985. Phoenix’s growth is financed mainly 
through retained cash flow, and long-term debt is negligible.

Phoenix’s trust units trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) under the symbol PHX.UN. At 
December 31, 2006 there were 22,274,773 units issued and outstanding. Cash distributions 
were $0.735 per unit in 2006.
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Calgary, Alberta T2P 3A8 

Telephone: (403) 543-4466 
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E-mail: investor@phoenixcan.com 
 www.phoenixcan.com
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